
Vestavia Hills 
City Council Agenda 
September 10, 2018 

6:00 PM 
 

1. Call to Order 

2. Roll Call 

3. Invocation – Ron Higey, Vestavia Hills Chaplain 

4. Pledge Of Allegiance  

5. Candidates, Announcements and Guest Recognition  

6. Proclamation – Constitution Week – September 17-23, 2018 

7. Proclamation – Assisted Living Week – September 9-15, 2018 

8. Proclamation – Family Week – September 23-29, 2018 

9. City Manager’s Report 

10. Councilors’ Reports 

11. Approval of Minutes – August 8, 2018 (Special Called Meeting), August 20, 2018 (Work 

Session) and August 27, 2018 (Regular Meeting) 

Old Business 

12. Ordinance Number 2783 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – Gresham School Campus; 

Vestavia Hills Board of Education, Owners   (public hearing)   

13. Ordinance Number 2784 – Rezoning – Gresham School Campus – Rezoning From 

Jefferson County Institutional-1 To Vestavia Hills Institutional For Annexation; Vestavia 

Hills Board Of Education, Owners   (public hearing)   

14. Ordinance Number 2786 – Rezoning - 2424 And 2732 Dolly Ridge Road; Lots 15, 18 And 

The South 25’ Of Lot 17, Rocky Ridge Estates; Rezone From Jefferson County E-2 To 

Vestavia Hills R-2 For Construction Of 4 Homes; Thornton Construction (public hearing)   

15. Ordinance Number 2785 – Annexation – 90 Day Final – 2424 And 2732 Dolly Ridge 

Road; Lots 15, 18 And The South 25’ Of Lot 17, Rocky Ridge Estates; Thornton 

Construction    (public hearing)   

16. Resolution Number 5083 – A Resolution Approving The Final 10% Of The 2017-2018 

Budget For The City Of Vestavia Hills And Authorizing The City Manager To Purchase 

Certain Capital Items And Expense Said Items To The FY18 Fiscal Year    (public hearing)   

17. Ordinance Number 2788 – An Ordinance Approving A General Fund Budget, A Special 

Funds Budget, A Capital Projects Funds Budget And An Infrastructure And Community 



Spaces Fund Budget For The City Of Vestavia Hills For The Period Of October 1, 2018 

Until September 30, 2019  (public hearing)     

18. Resolution Number 5084 - A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Execute And 

Deliver An Agreement With Sain Associates For Services Related To Designing The 

Community Spaces Connector Sidewalk TAP Project   (public hearing)      

19. Resolution Number 5085 – A Resolution accepting a bid for Wald Park Initial Site 

Package    (public hearing)       

New Business 

20. Resolution Number 5088 – A Resolution Authorizing A Three Percent (3%) Cost Of 

Living Increase For Employees 

21. Resolution Number 5089 - A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Accept A 

Lease Rate For The Lease/Purchase Of Equipment And Vehicles For FY2019 

22. Resolution Number 5090 – A Resolution To Initiate The Second Amendment To The 

Patchwork Farm Planned Unit Development 

23. Resolution Number 5091 – A Resolution Declaring Certain Personal Property As Surplus 

And Directing The City Manager To Sell/Dispose Of Said Property 

New Business (Unanimous Consent Requested) 

First Reading (No Action Taken At This Meeting) 

24. Ordinance Number 2789 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2441 Jannebo Road, Lot 116, 

Buckhead, 4th Sector; Richard And Samantha Wheeler (Owners)   (public hearing) 

25. Ordinance Number 2790 – Rezoning - 2441 Jannebo Road, Lot 116, Buckhead, 4th Sector; 

Rezone From JC R-2 To VH R-1; Richard And Samantha Wheeler (Owners)   (public 

hearing) 

26. Ordinance Number 2791 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 3332 Misty Lane; Jacob And; 

Marjorie Pollard (Owners)   (public hearing) 

27. Ordinance Number 2792 – Rezoning - 3332 Misty Lane; Rezone From JC E-2 To R-1; 

Jacob And; Marjorie Pollard (Owners)   (public hearing) 

28. Ordinance Number 2793 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2764 Altadena Lake Drive; ; Lot 

4, Block 5, First Add, Altadena Valley, 4th Sector; Murray And Kelly Statham (Owners)   

(public hearing) 

29. Ordinance Number 2794 – Rezoning - 2764 Altadena Lake Drive; Lot 4, Block 5, First 

Add, Altadena Valley, 4th Sector Rezone From JC R-1 To VH R-2; Murray And Kelly 

Statham, (Owners)   (public hearing) 



30. Ordinance Number 2795 – Rezoning – 2401 Mountain Vista Drive, Lot 45, Altadena 

Brook; 2nd Sector, Rezone From JC E-2 To VH R-1, Paul Phillips, Owner   (public 

hearing) 

31. Resolution Number 5092 – A Resolution Accepting The Dedication Of The Street Known 

As Anna Steele Lane     (public hearing) 

32. Resolution Number 5093 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Execute And 

Deliver Proposals For Survey And Civil Engineering Services For The Following 

Sidewalk Projects:  East Street Improvements; Cahaba Heights Road Sidewalk 

Improvements; Mountainview Drive Sidewalk Improvements; And Rocky Ridge Road 

Sidewalk Improvements   (public hearing) 

33. Ordinance Number 2796 – An Ordinance Granting A Non-Exclusive Right-Of-Way Use 

Agreement To McImetro Access Transmission Services Corp. D/B/A Verizon Access 

Transmission Services For The Purpose Of Conducting Business As A Communications 

Services Provider Within Certain Public Right-Of-Way Within The City Of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama   (public hearing) 

34. Citizen Comments      

35. Motion For Adjournment 



WHEREAS, our Founding Fathers, in order to secure the blessings of liberty for themselves 
and their posterity, did ordain and establish a Constitution for the United States of 
America; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is of the greatest importance that all citizens fully understand the provisions and 

principles contained in the Constitution in order to effectively support it, preserve 
and defend it against all enemies; and   

 
WHEREAS, the 231st anniversary of the signing of the Constitution provides a historic 

opportunity for all Americans to remember the achievements of the Framers of the 
Constitution and the rights, privileges, and responsibilities they afforded us in this 
unique document; and  

 
WHEREAS, the independence guaranteed to American citizens, whether by birth or 

naturalization, should be celebrated by appropriate ceremonies and activities 
during Constitution Week, September 17 through 23, as designated by 
proclamation of the President of the United States of America in accordance with 
Public Law 915; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Ashley C. Curry, by virtue of the authority vested in me as Mayor of the 

City of Vestavia Hills in the State of Alabama, do hereby proclaim September 17 
- 23, 2018 as  

 
     CONSTITUTION WEEK 

 
in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and urge our citizens to pay special 
attention to our Federal Constitution and the advantage of American citizenship. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have 
hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal 
of the City of Vestavia Hills to be affixed 
this the 5th day of September 2018. 
 
 
 
__________________________________
______ 
Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor 
 
 



WHEREAS, residents of assisted living communities are active members of the larger 
community, offering their knowledge, life experiences and involvement; their past 
contributions continue to be a vital part of Vestavia Hills rich history; and their 
ongoing participating deepens our identity; and  

 
WHEREAS, assisted living is a critical long term care service for older adults and individuals 

with disabilities that fosters choice, dignity, and independence; assisted living 
communities are committed to excellence, innovation and the advancement of 
person-centered care; and   

 
WHEREAS, in 1995, the National Center for Assisted Living established national Assisted 

Living Week to honor the contributions of assisted living communities in 
providing long term care to America’s seniors and individuals with disabilities;  

 
WHEREAS, this year’s theme of National Assisted Living Week is Capture the Moment, 

which hopes to inspire assisted living residents to enjoy the present while 
celebrating the past; 

 
WHEREAS, Capture the Moment is also meant to encourage assisted living staff to focus on 

the little, everyday interactions with residents to continue delivering high-quality, 
person-centered care; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Ashley C. Curry, by virtue of the authority vested in me as Mayor of the 

City of Vestavia Hills in the State of Alabama, do hereby proclaim September 9 - 
15, 2018 as  

 
     NATIONAL ASSISTED LIVING WEEK 

 
and encourage our residents to volunteer in an assisted living community, to visit 
friends and loved ones who reside at these communities, and to learn more about 
how assisted living services benefit Vestavia Hills. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have 
hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal 
of the City of Vestavia Hills to be affixed 
this the 5th day of September 2018. 
 
 
 
__________________________________
______ 
Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor 
 
 



WHEREAS, children are our future and society’s greatest asset, and committed families shape 
and guide children by preparing them for obstacles and encouraging them to 
overcome life’s demanding challenges; and 

 
WHEREAS, children who spend significant time with both parents show lower risks of suicide, 

dropout, teen pregnancy, incarceration, and drug abuse; however the importance 
of children having two parents is diminishing in society as approximately 40,000 
Alabama children a year experience court ordered visitation with one parent for 
only two to six days a month; and   

 
WHEREAS, social scientists agree that shared parenting should be the norm for children of all 

ages, and strong and engaged families help build a strong Alabama; and  
 
WHEREAS, Family Day in Alabama promotes the importance of family interaction and 

stresses that children need both parents and during Family Day and Week we 
honor the devotion of parents and call on community and state leaders to support 
shared parenting because of its benefits for children; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Ashley C. Curry, by virtue of the authority vested in me as Mayor of the 

City of Vestavia Hills in the State of Alabama, do hereby proclaim September 24, 
2018 as Family Day and September 23 through September 29, 2018 as  

 
     FAMILY WEEK 

 
in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and encourage our citizens to join together 
in observing this week by engaging in activities that honor and strengthen our 
city’s and state’s families. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have 
hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal 
of the City of Vestavia Hills to be affixed 
this the 5th day of September 2018. 
 
 
 
__________________________________
______ 
Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
Special Meeting 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

SPECIAL MEETING 
 

AUGUST 8, 2018 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in a regular work session on this date at 
6:00 PM following posting/publication as required by Alabama law.  The Mayor called the 
meeting to order and the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Ashley C. Curry  

Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
Kimberly Cook, Councilor 

      Paul J. Head, Councilor 
George Pierce, Councilor 

 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager  
      Patrick Boone, City Attorney 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 

Marvin Green, Fire Chief 
Danny Rary, Police Chief 
Melvin Turner, III, Finance Director 
Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
 

George Pierce, Councilor, provided the invocation followed by the Pledge of 
Allegiance 

 
 

NEW BUSINESS (REQUESTING UNANIMOUS CONSENT): 
 

The Mayor stated that the sole item on the agenda required unanimous consent for 
immediate consideration and action.  He opened the floor for a motion: 
 
MOTION Motion for unanimous consent of consideration and immediate action of 

Ordinance Number 2780 was by Mr. Weaver and second was by Mr. Pierce.  
Roll call vote as follows: 

  Mrs. Cook – yes  Mr. Head – yes  
  Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Weaver – yes  
  Mayor Curry – yes   Motion carried. 

 
 



City Council Minutes 
Special Meeting 

Page 2 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2780 
 

Ordinance Number 2780 – 2018 General Obligation Warrant Issue (public hearing) 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2780 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mrs. Cook.   
 
 Mr. Downes gave a brief background of the Council’s actions up to this point which 
included planning, funding, retainage of a consultant all for the Infrastructure and 
Community Spaces Plan. 
 
 Chris Williams, Rice Advisory, explained that they went to Moody’s and Fitch for 
classification.  He explained that the AAA rating was reaffirmed by Moody’s and there 
was a AA positive outlook rating from Fitch.  He explained the new debt service which is 
being funded by the sale tax increase recently implemented by the Council.  He explained 
the terms of the bonds  
 
 Discussion ensued and Mr. Williams stated that they cannot pull many comps 
reflected like the City’s because the City’s ratings are so good. 
 
 Mr. Downes explains the returns from the first month of sales taxes collected during 
the month of June which would be the first month of these new collections.  Twenty-five 
percent of that would go toward the Community Spaces Plan which would equate to 
roughly $4 million in revenues. 
 
 Mr. Williams reminded the Council that $9.2 of these bonds went to pay off the 
BB&T bonds.  He explained to the Council about building an escrow to allow the City to 
reduce some of the debt load at will. 
 
 Mayor Curry stated that this entire process has been done professionally, promotion 
of the sales taxes, public input, retainage of ratings in the process of borrowing $52 million.  
He stated this is a credit to the City Manager and the Finance Department and the City is 
in great shape. 
 
 Mr. Pierce stated that the City has worked for 18 years to better the finances of the 
City and to improve the financial standing. He stated those efforts have moved the City 
forward and he commended the past administrations for their work. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing 
 
 David Harwell, 1803 Catala Road, asked why this special meeting was needed and 
why this couldn’t wait until the regular meeting of the Council. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that they rely on the advice of the financial team and the timing 
of the financial market warranted this special meeting. 
 



City Council Minutes 
Special Meeting 

Page 3 
 

 Mr. Rice explained the timing of the market and the signing of the agreement is 
critical to be completed at the right time. 
 
 Mr. Harwell asked if the 1% sales tax increase funded the entire project and, if so, 
why increase the lodging taxes. 
 
 The Mayor explained that the City examined existing lodging taxes from sister 
cities and it was found that Vestavia Hills was lower than the neighboring cities.  He stated 
that there are only three hotels located in the City so there is not a lot of lodging taxes that 
are collected. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained the category which lumps all of these together. 
 
 Mr. Harwell stated that he has been advising past Councils and this one that bond 
issues have to be voted upon by the people. He asked the difference between the bonds and 
warrants. 
 
 Mr. Williams explained the terms of warrant and bond issues along with calendar 
constraints and timing. 
 
 There being no further business, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for 
the question.  Roll call vote as follows: 
  Mrs. Cook – yes  Mr. Head – yes  
  Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Weaver – yes  
  Mayor Curry – yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
 David Harwell, 1803 Catala Road, thanked the Council for helping to get the debris 
issue addressed in his neighborhood. He stated it is better this month than the last and wants 
to ensure that all areas are being addressed. 
 
 
 There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 6:21 PM. 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor  
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



City Council Minutes 
Work Session 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

AUGUST 20, 2018 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in a regular work session on this date at 
6:00 PM following posting/publication as required by Alabama law.  The Mayor called the 
meeting to order and the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Ashley C. Curry  

Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
Kimberly Cook, Councilor 
Paul J. Head, Councilor 
George Pierce, Councilor 

 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager  
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 

Marvin Green, Fire Chief 
Lori Beth Kearley, Sr. Civil Engineer 
Danny Rary, Police Chief 
Jason Hardin, Police Captain 
Shane Ware, Police Lieutenant 
Melvin Turner, Finance Director 
Brian Davis, Public Services Director 
Umang Patel, Court Director 
Cinnamon McCulley, Communication Specialist 
Taneisha Tucker, Library Director 
Darrin Estes, IT Director 
Keith Blanton, Building Official 
 
 

BUSINESS INCUBATOR – VESTAVIA HILLS CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 
 

 John Henley, representing the Vestavia Hills Chamber of Commerce, approached 
the Council with a request for creating a business incubator which is designed to promote 
entrepreneurs within the City.  He explained the Chamber’s due diligence into the endeavor 
and indicated that this would be deemed a “co-working space”.  He stated some of the 
specifics are still a work in progress and wanted to know if the City Council was interested 
in moving forward with the service.  The Council discussed the pros and cons of the 



City Council Minutes 
Work Session 

Page 2 
 

incubator.  Mr. Henley stated they anticipate a need of about 5,000 square feet if it were to 
move ahead. 
 
 Discussion ensued into the end goal of the program that Mr. Henley stated would 
hopefully be more local businesses.  He stated there are no guarantees that the businesses 
would remain and/or locate in the City.   
 
 Mrs. Cook asked for more information on what constituted a public use for 
proceeding with the business incubator. 
 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE & COMMUNITY SPACES PLAN UPDATE - TCU 
 

 Ken Upchurch, TCU, updated the Council with the July 2018 monthly report.  This 
was the first of the series of reports from the consultant.  Mr. Upchurch explained the 
reports, the status of each project and the progress. 
 
 He explained the update on the initial site improvements of Wald Park, the letting 
of bids for the project.  He stated they have begun to solidify designs for the pool along 
with location of the pool and fields.  Drawings were shown to support these preliminary 
design concepts.   
 
 

SIDEWALK UPDATE – INFRASTRUCTURE AND COMMUNITY SPACES 
PLAN 

 
 Mr. Downes stated that Mr. Brady is beginning coordinating efforts with a 
designated consultant to begin the process of connecting commercial areas with residential 
areas along with staying consistent with the City’s sidewalk master plan.  He showed areas 
of consideration located in four geographic locations within the City. 
 
 Discussion ensued with Council concurrence to begin said studies. 
 
 

FY2019 FISCAL YEAR BUDGETS 
 

 Mr. Downes stated that he had presented his requested budgets at the last Council 
meeting and indicated that he and the department heads were present in order to discuss 
and/or answer any questions.  He stated there was a change from the original budget of 
$19,000 for utility cuts that were not included in the first and how that expense was offset. 
 
 Discussion ensued regarding a one-time retiree bonus, the costs of said bonus and 
the fact that an increase in retiree insurance was adopted earlier in the year by the Council 
which costs about the same amount as the bonus.  Mr. Downes indicated that not all of the 
retirees saw any savings from this increase as some do not have the retiree insurance.   
 



City Council Minutes 
Work Session 

Page 3 
 

 Discussion on other areas including donations to non-profits also ensued.  
Questions related to the budget were answered. 
 
 

 
MASSEY ROAD UPDATE 

 
 Mr. Downes gave an update on Massey Road project which has been ongoing for 
years.  . 
 
 There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:42 PM. 
 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor  
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



City Council Minutes 
August 27, 2018 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

AUGUST 27, 2018 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 6:00 PM, 
following publication and posting pursuant to Alabama law.  Mayor Pro-Tem Weaver called the 
meeting to order and the City Clerk called the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  

Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
Kimberly Cook, Councilor 

      Paul Head, Councilor 
      George Pierce, Councilor 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT:   Mayor Ashley C. Curry 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Patrick H. Boone, City Attorney 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Melvin Turner, Finance Director 
      George Sawaya, Asst. Finance Director 
      Dan Rary, Police Chief 
      Terry Ray, Asst. Fire Chief 
      Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
      Keith Blanton, Building Official 
      Taneisha Tucker, Library Director 
 

Steve Dedmon, Vestavia Hills Chaplain followed by the Pledge of Allegiance 
 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION  
 

 Mrs. Cook welcomed Baker Bolton, Boy Scout Troop 4 to the meeting. 
 Mr. Pierce welcomed Doug Dean, Chairman, Vestavia Hills Chamber of Commerce 

members, who were in attendance representing the Chamber. 
 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 
 The Mayor presented a proclamation for Gynecologic Cancer Awareness Month, 
September 2018.  Mr. Pierce read the Proclamation aloud and Mrs. Cook presented it Dr. Alice 
Laurendine. 



City Council Minutes 
August 27, 2018 

Page 2 
 

 
 Dr. Laurendine stated that September is the month for Cancer Awareness including 
ovarian cancer.  She stated there is presently no cure for ovarian cancer.  She urged everyone to 
learn the symptoms of Cancer.  She stated this cancer can affect women of all ages. 
 
 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

 None. 
 
 

COUNCILOR REPORTS 
 

 Mrs. Cook stated that the Board of Education met briefly this afternoon.  She stated that 
she was unable to attend but the information could be found on the Board’s website. 

 Mr. Head stated that the Parks and Recreation next work session will be held on Friday at 
noon. 

 
 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 
 Melvin Turner, Finance Director, presented the financial reports for month ending July 
2018.  He read and explained the balances. 
 
 Mrs. Cook asked about the ad valorem personal revenues.  Mr. Turner explained that these 
revenues to decrease with depreciation and Finance has to work with it to ensure it is correct. 
 
 Mr. Pierce asked about real property revenues.  Mr. Turner stated those revenues stem 
from individuals who protests their valuation. 
 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

The minutes of August 13, 2018 (Regular Meeting) were presented for approval. 
 
MOTION Motion to dispense with the reading of the minutes of the August 13, 2018 

(Regular Meeting) and approve them as presented was by Mr. Cook and second 
by Mr. Pierce   Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
        Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
August 27, 2018 

Page 3 
 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5081 
 

Resolution Number 5081 – A Resolution to adopt the 2018 City of Vestavia Hills Floodplain 
Management Plan    (public hearing)   

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5081 was by Mr. Pierce seconded by Mr. 

Head. 
 
 Christopher Brady, City Engineer explained that this represents the official adoption of 
the City of Vestavia Hills Floodplain Management Plan.  This is the culmination of a funded 
project with Schoel Engineer and Lehe Engineering.  He give a background of the development 
of the plan and explained this will allow some relief in flood insurance for some homeowners. 
 
 Mrs. Cook asked if there were any notable public comments. 
 
 Mr. Brady stated they received several public comments, primarily from owners along the 
Montgomery Highway southern corridor.  He stated that is a visible flood hazard area and they 
are doing what they can to assist with those concerns. 
 
 Mr. Pierce asked where the plan can be found and reviewed.  Mr. Brady stated it is on the 
website. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, the Mayor Pro-Tem closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
          Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2781 
 

Ordinance Number 2781 – An Ordinance Authorizing The Mayor And City Manager To 
Enter Into An Agreement With Alabama Department Of Transportation For 
Project #TAPAA-TA18(911); CPMS#100068361; Sidewalk From Merryvale 
Road To The Future Community Building and Connecting To The Existing 
Sidewalk On Mayland Lane   (public hearing)   

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2781 was by Mr. Pierce seconded by Mr. 

Cook. 
 
 Mr. Brady explained that his funding agreements will help to construct and connect the 
Golds Gym property next door down to Wald Park. He explained the funding which is covered at 
80% of the project. 
 



City Council Minutes 
August 27, 2018 

Page 4 
 

 Mr. Pierce asked if this will be bid.  Mr. Brady stated it would be bid. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, the Mayor Pro-Tem closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
          Motion carried. 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2787 
 

Ordinance Number 2787 – An Ordinance Authorizing The Mayor And City Manager To 
Execute And Deliver A Second Amendment to PCS Site Agreement With STC 
Five LLC, For Lease Property Located On Montgomery Highway; Allen 
Grier, Real Estate Specialist, Crown Castle, Representing 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2787 was by Mr. Cook seconded by Mr. 

Pierce. 
 
 Allen Grier, Crown Castle, explained that this were new negotiated terms to add 30 years 
to the current agreement and to amend the lease revenues related to a lease sharing agreement.  
He stated that this was worked out through the City Manager and was reviewed by the City 
Attorney. 
 
 Mr. Boone stated he did review this agreement.  He gave a background of the history of 
the leasing of the cell tower located behind the Bill F. Towers Fire Station No. 1 along with the 
series of Site Agreements that have been executed through the years and the terms amended in 
this proposed Second Amendment.  He state originally there were options presented which were 
revised at his recommendation from a legal standpoint.  He stated the revised document does meet 
the terms of Alabama law. 
 
 There being no one to address the Council, the Mayor Pro-Tem called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
          Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5086 
 

Resolution Number 5086 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Execute And 
Deliver Agreements With ALDOT For Improvements In Rights-Of-Way At 
Wald Park  

 



City Council Minutes 
August 27, 2018 

Page 5 
 

MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5086 was by Mr. Pierce seconded by Mr. 
Head. 

 
 Mr. Brady stated that these permits are required by ALDOT in order to do ROW 
improvements needed in the grading that is being planned at Wald Park.  He gave a quick 
summation of the ROW work as well as the sewer improvements in the next request. 
 
 There being no one to address the Council, the Mayor Pro-Tem called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
          Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5087 
 

Resolution Number 5087 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Execute And 
Deliver Applications To Jefferson County Environmental Services For 
Improvements To The Sewer System At Wald Park  

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5087 was by Mr. Cook seconded by Mr. 

Pierce. 
 
 Mr. Brady stated this was explained in the previous resolution. 
 
 There being no one to address the Council, the Mayor Pro-Tem closed the public hearing 
and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
          Motion carried. 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS (REQUESTING UNANIMOUS CONSENT) 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem indicated that unanimous consent for the immediate consideration 
and action on Resolution Number 5082 would be required.  He opened the floor for a motion. 
 
MOTION Motion for unanimous consent for the immediate consideration and action for 

Resolution Number 5082 was by Mr. Cook and second was by Mr. Pierce.  Roll 
call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
          Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
August 27, 2018 

Page 6 
 

 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5082 
 

Resolution Number 5082 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Purchase And 
Equip A Police Department Vehicle To Replace A Vehicle Declared Totaled 
In A Vehicle Accident   (public hearing)   

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5082 was by Mr. Pierce seconded by Mr. 

Head. 
 
 Chief Rary gave the background of a vehicle accident that was done when an officer had 
a vehicle stopped.  He indicated that the vehicle was totaled and the damage has been recovered.  
This request is to replace and equip the vehicle. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, the Mayor Pro-Tem closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
          Motion carried. 
 
 
FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 
 The Mayor stated that the following resolutions and/or ordinances will be presented at a 
public hearing at the Council’s next regular meeting on September 10, 2018, at 6:00 PM. 

 Ordinance Number 2783 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – Gresham School Campus; 
Vestavia Hills Board of Education, Owners   (public hearing)   

 Ordinance Number 2784 – Rezoning – Gresham School Campus – Rezoning From 
Jefferson County Institutional-1 To Vestavia Hills Institutional For Annexation; Vestavia 
Hills Board Of Education, Owners   (public hearing)   

 Ordinance Number 2785 – Annexation – 90 Day Final – 2424 And 2732 Dolly Ridge 
Road; Lots 15, 18 And The South 25’ Of Lot 17, Rocky Ridge Estates; Thornton 
Construction    (public hearing)   

 Ordinance Number 2786 – Rezoning - 2424 And 2732 Dolly Ridge Road; Lots 15, 18 
And The South 25’ Of Lot 17, Rocky Ridge Estates; Rezone From Jefferson County E-2 
To Vestavia Hills R-2 For Construction Of 4 Homes; Thornton Construction (public 
hearing)   

 Resolution Number 5083 – A Resolution Approving The Final 10% Of The 2017-2018 
Budget For The City Of Vestavia Hills And Authorizing The City Manager To Purchase 
Certain Capital Items And Expense Said Items To The FY18 Fiscal Year    (public 
hearing)   

 Ordinance Number 2788 – An Ordinance Approving A General Fund Budget, A Special 
Funds Budget, A Capital Projects Funds Budget And An Infrastructure And Community 



City Council Minutes 
August 27, 2018 

Page 7 
 

Spaces Fund Budget For The City Of Vestavia Hills For The Period Of October 1, 2018 
Until September 30, 2019  (public hearing)     

 Resolution Number 5084 - A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Execute And 
Deliver An Agreement With Sain Associates For Services Related To Designing The 
Community Spaces Connector Sidewalk TAP Project   (public hearing)      

 Resolution Number 5085 – A Resolution accepting a bid for Wald Park Initial Site 
Package    (public hearing)        

 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 

 
 None. 
 
 At 6:26 PM, Mr. Pierce made a motion to adjourn.  The meeting adjourned at 6:27 PM. 
 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Ordinance Number 2783 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2783 
 
 ANNEXING CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA 
HILLS, ALABAMA. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, on the 14th day of May, 2018, a petition was presented to the City 

Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, proposing the annexation of certain 

property to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, under the provisions of Act 32 of the 

Special Session on the Alabama Legislature of 1964; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, at the time and place 

of its regular meeting on said date, made a determination that the matters contained in the 

Petition were true and that it was in the public interest that said property be annexed to the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the following property which was described in said petition be annexed to 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

Gresham School Campus 
Vestavia Hills Board of Education, Owner(s) 

 
More particularly described as follows; 
 

A tract of land situated in the NW 1/4 of the SW 1/4 of Section 28, 
Township 18 South, Range 2 West, Jefferson County, Alabama, being more 
particularly described as follows: Begin at the Southwest corner of the NW 
1/4 of the SW 1/4 of said Section 28; thence run N 00° 17' 16" W along the 
West line of said 1/4 - 1/4 section for 907.31 feet to a point on the South 
line of the Gresham Woods Subdivision, as recorded in Map Book 227, 
page 2, in the Probate Office of Jefferson County, Alabama; thence run S 
88° 32' 33" E along the South line of said Subdivision for 797.24 feet to a 
point on the South Right of Way line of Gresham Drive; thence run S 83° 
58' 48" E along said road right of way for 408.26 feet to the point of a non 



Ordinance Number 2783 
Page 2 

 

tangent curve to the right, said curve having a radius of 150.00 feet and a 
chord bearing of S 34° 13' 12" E and run along the arc of said curve and 
said road right of way for 157.34 feet; thence run S 00° 28' 05" E along said 
road right of way for 755.98 feet to a point on the South line of the NW 1/4 
of the SW 1/4 of said Section 28; thence run N 88° 24' 07" W along the 
South line of said 1/4 - 1/4 section for 1289.60 feet to the point of beginning. 

 
 2.  That this Annexation shall become effective upon the adoption and approval of 

this Ordinance in accordance with the provisions of law, after which the heretofore 

described property shall become a part of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 3.  That the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to publish this Ordinance in 

accordance with the requirements of the law and to file a copy hereof, together with a duly 

certified copy of the petition, with the Probate Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama. 

 ADOPTING and APPROVED this the 10th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2783 
Page 3 

 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2783 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 10th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ 
day of ______________, 2018. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 



 



Ordinance No. 2783 - Gresham School



Ordinance No. 2783 - Gresham School



Ordinance No. 2783 - Gresham School



Ordinance No. 2783 - Gresham School



Ordinance No. 2783 - Gresham School



Ordinance No. 2783 - Gresham School



Ordinance No. 2783 - Gresham School



Ordinance No. 2783 - Gresham School



Ordinance No. 2783 - Gresham School



Ordinance Number 2784 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2784 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY JEFFERSON COUNTY INST-
1 TO VESTAVIA HILLS INSTITUTIONAL 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Jefferson County Inst-1 

(institutional district) to Vestavia Hills Inst (institutional district):  

2650 Gresham Drive; Gresham School Campus  
Vestavia Hills Board of Education, Owner(s) 

 
More particularly described as follows; 
 

A tract of land situated in the NW 1/4 of the SW 1/4 of Section 28, 
Township 18 South, Range 2 West, Jefferson County, Alabama, being more 
particularly described as follows: Begin at the Southwest corner of the NW 
1/4 of the SW 1/4 of said Section 28; thence run N 00° 17' 16" W along the 
West line of said 1/4 - 1/4 section for 907.31 feet to a point on the South 
line of the Gresham Woods Subdivision, as recorded in Map Book 227, 
page 2, in the Probate Office of Jefferson County, Alabama; thence run S 
88° 32' 33" E along the South line of said Subdivision for 797.24 feet to a 
point on the South Right of Way line of Gresham Drive; thence run S 83° 
58' 48" E along said road right of way for 408.26 feet to the point of a non 
tangent curve to the right, said curve having a radius of 150.00 feet and a 
chord bearing of S 34° 13' 12" E and run along the arc of said curve and 
said road right of way for 157.34 feet; thence run S 00° 28' 05" E along said 
road right of way for 755.98 feet to a point on the South line of the NW 1/4 
of the SW 1/4 of said Section 28; thence run N 88° 24' 07" W along the 
South line of said 1/4 - 1/4 section for 1289.60 feet to the point of beginning. 

 
APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 10th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 



Ordinance Number 2784 
Page 2 

 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2784 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 10th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New Merkle 
House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2018. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2784 
Page 3 

 
 

 



1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     JULY 12, 2018

CASE: P-0718-25

REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Jefferson County Inst-1 to Vestavia Hills Inst-1

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 2650 Gresham Dr.

APPLICANT/OWNER: Vestavia Hills Board Of Education

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Property was annexed overnight by City Council on 
5/14/18 with the passage of Ordinance 2765. Applicant is requesting the compatible 
rezoning.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

MOTION Mr. Gilchrist made a motion to recommend rezoning approval for 2650 Gresham 
Dr. from Jefferson County Inst-1 to Vestavia Hills Inst-1. Second was by Mr. Weaver. Motion 
was carried on a roll call; vote as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Sykes – yes
Mr. Gilchrist – yes Mrs. Barnes – yes
Mr. House – yes Mr. Weaver – yes 
Mr. Larson – yes Motion carried.

Ordinance 2784 - Gresham School Exhibits



Ordinance 2784 - Gresham School Exhibits



Ordinance Number 2786 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2786 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY JEFFERSON COUNTY E-2 
TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-2 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Jefferson County E-2 (estate single 

family district) to Vestavia Hills R-2 (medium density residential district):  

2424 and 2532 Dolly Ridge Road 
Lot 15, Lot 18 and the S 25’ of Lot 17, Rocky Ridge Estates 

Thornton Construction, Owner(s) 
 
 

APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 10th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2786 
Page 2 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2786 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 10th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New Merkle 
House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2018. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2786 
Page 3 

 
 

 



1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     JULY 12, 2018

CASE: P-0718-27

REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-2

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 2424 & 2432 Dolly Ridge Rd.

APPLICANT/OWNER: Thorton Construction Company, Inc.

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Property began 90 day annexation process by City 
Council on 5/30/18 with the passage of Resolutions 5046 & 5047. Applicant is 
requesting the rezoning to R-2 for a 4 lot subdivision on Dolly Ridge Rd. The 
proposed lots meet the minimum requirements for an R-2 zoning. Lots 1-3 you have 
access from Dolly Ridge Rd. while Lot 4 would access Ridgedale Dr. This is not a 
compatible rezoning.

VESTAVIA HILLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: The request is consistent with 
the plan for medium density residential.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 



2

MOTION Mr. Gilchrist made a motion to recommend rezoning approval for 2424 & 2432 
Dolly Ridge Rd. from Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-2 based on the site plan
presented. Second was by Mr. Weaver. Motion was carried on a roll call; vote as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Sykes – yes
Mr. Gilchrist – yes Mrs. Barnes – yes
Mr. House – yes Mr. Weaver – yes 
Mr. Larson – yes Motion carried.









Ordinance Number 2785 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2785 
 
 ANNEXING CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA 
HILLS, ALABAMA. 

 
 WHEREAS, on the 30th day of May, 2018, a petition was presented to the City 

Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, proposing the annexation of certain 

property to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, under the provisions of Act 32 of the 

Special Session on the Alabama Legislature of 1964; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, at the time and place 

of its regular meeting on said date, made a determination that the matters contained in the 

Petition were true and that it was in the public interest that said property be annexed to the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the following property which was described in said petition be annexed to 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

2424 and 2432 Dolly Ridge Road 
Lot 15, Lot 18 & S 25' Lot 17, Rocky Ridge Estates 

Jim Thornton Construction, Owner(s) 
 
 2.  That this Annexation shall become effective upon the adoption and approval of 

this Ordinance in accordance with the provisions of law, after which the heretofore 

described property shall become a part of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 3.  That the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to publish this Ordinance in 

accordance with the requirements of the law and to file a copy hereof, together with a duly 

certified copy of the petition, with the Probate Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama. 



Ordinance Number 2785 
Page 2 

 

 ADOPTING and APPROVED this the 10th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2785 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 10th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ 
day of ______________, 2018. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2785 
Page 3 

 

 
 
 

 



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785

















30' REAR BUILDING SETBACK 30' REAR BUILDING SETBACK

30' REAR BUILDING SETBACK 30' REAR BUILDING SETBACK

15
' S

ID
E 

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

 

15
' S

ID
E 

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

 

15
' S

ID
E 

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

 

15
' S

ID
E 

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

 

50
' S

ID
E 

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

 

15
' S

ID
E 

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

 

15
' S

ID
E 

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

 

15
' S

ID
E 

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

 

50' F
RONT BUILDING SETBACK

50' FRONT BUILDING SETBACK

50' FRONT BUILDING SETBACK
50' FRONT BUILDING SETBACK

S89° 06' 23.15"E
100.195

S2
° 1

0'
 2

9.
13

"E
23

5.
77

2

S49° 0
1' 23.73"W

29.269

L=78.474, R=112.500

D=39.9667

S88° 59' 23.73"W
4.460

N
2°

 1
0'

 2
9.

13
"W

28
4.

18
8

N
2°

 2
0'

 5
0.

38
"W

16
1.

74
1

N
2°

 2
0'

 5
0.

38
"W

25
.0

64

S89° 03' 50.25"E
120.000

S2
° 2

0'
 5

0.
38

"E
17

2.
39

7

S88° 03' 35.00"W
66.724

L=53.952, R=155.580

D=19.8689

N
2°

 4
8'

 2
8.

49
"W

24
.8

83

N89° 03' 50.25"W
140.355

S2
° 2

0'
 5

0.
38

"E
17

2.
39

7

N88° 03' 35.00"E
111.384

L=47.19
4,

R=3
0.

00
0

D=90.13
33

N
2°

 4
8'

 2
8.

49
"W

11
0.

03
0

X:
\2

01
7 

Pr
oj

ec
ts

\1
7t

hc
o\

02
-D

ol
ly

 R
id

ge
 R

es
id

en
tia

l_
Ve

st
av

ia
 H

ills
 A

L\
En

gi
ne

er
in

g\
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

D
oc

um
en

ts
\1

7T
H

C
O

02
_R

EC
O

VE
R

.d
w

g 
   

 M
ar

 0
2,

20
18

 - 
1:

06
 p

m

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION,
RECORDING

PURPOSES OR
IMPLEMENTATION

X XX FENCE

GG
11/2"W
OPUP
OTUT

+

GG
11/2"W
OPUP
OTUT

Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2785



Resolution Number 5083 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5083 
 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL OF THE FINAL 10% OF 
THE BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2017-2018 AND TO 
AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO EXPEND UP TO 
$235,600 FOR CERTAIN CAPITAL EXPENDITURES TO BE 
EXPENSED TO FY 2018 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, at its regular 

meeting of August 28, 2017, adopted and approved Resolution Number 4975 to adopt 90% 

of a General Fund budget, 90% of a Special Revenue Fund budget, 90% of a Capital Project 

Fund budget and 90% of a Sidewalk Fund Budget for the fiscal year 2017-2018; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, wishes to 

adopt the final portion (10%) of aforesaid budgets for the fiscal year 2017-2018. 

Total Budget Recap 
 

 General Funds Special Funds Capital Projects 
Funds 

Sidewalk 
Projects Fund 

Total Budget Approved  
$  38,616,956.00 

 
$  3,968,866.00 

 
$     2,398,341.00 

 
$      582,420.00 

Less 90% approved in Res. 
4308 & 4233 

 
$  34,755,260.00 

 
$  3,571,979.00 

 
$     2,158,507.00 

 
$      524,178.00 

 
Final 10% to be approved 

 
$    3,861,696.00 

 
$     396,887.00 

 
$        239,934.00 

 
$        58,242.00 

 
 BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

that the final portion of the annual budget amounting to $3,861,696.00 (general funds), 

$396,887.00 (special funds), $239,934.00 (capital projects funds) and $58,242.00 

(Sidewalk Projects Fund) for the fiscal year 2017-2018 is hereby adopted. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Manager is hereby authorized to 

expend an amount not to exceed $235,600 for certain capital expenditures to be expensed 

to the 2018 fiscal year; said items are detailed in the attached Exhibit A. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 10th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 



Resolution Number 5083 
Page 2 

 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings  
City Clerk 
 



POLICE DEPARTMENT TOTAL

Flir Accessory for Drone 7,500$                   

Tasers 9,600$                   17,100$            

FIRE DEPARTMENT 

Renovations - Station #1 138,000$              

Dark Fiber - Station #1 12,000$                 

Cardiac Monitor 32,000$                 

182,000$          

PUBLIC SERVICES 

General Fence Repairs 12,000$                 

Zero Turn Mower 9,500$                   

21,500$            

LIBRARY - 70

Parking Lot Resurfacing 15,000$                 

15,000$            

GRAND TOTAL 235,600$          

PURCHASES - USE OF FISCAL 2018 SURPLUS FUNDS

E
xh

ib
it 

A
 - 

R
es

ol
ut

io
n 

N
o.

 5
08

3



Ordinance Number 2788 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2788 
 
 AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE GENERAL 

FUND BUDGET, A SPECIAL REVENUE FUND BUDGET, A 
CAPITAL PROJECT FUND BUDGET, AND AN INFRASTUCTURE 
AND COMMUNITY SPACES PROJECT FUND BUDGET FOR THE 
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING 
OCTOBER 1, 2018 UNTIL SEPTEMBER 30, 2019. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared and presented a “general fund budget” 

which has been reviewed and amended by the City Council for said period reflecting 

anticipated expenditures in the amount of $44,376,286 including transfers out, to be 

effective for the period beginning October 1, 2018, through September 30, 2019; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared a “special fund budget” for said period 

reflecting anticipated expenditures in the amount of $3,259,642 including transfers from 

the General Fund, to be effective for the period beginning October 1, 2018, through 

September 30, 2019; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared a “capital projects fund budget” for 

said period reflecting expenditures in the amount of $2,038,735 to be effective for the 

period beginning October 1, 2018, through September 30, 2019. 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared an “infrastructure and community 

spaces fund budget” for said period reflecting expenditures in the amount of $3,244,878 to 

be effective for the period beginning October 1, 2018, through September 30, 2019. 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43-57, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides as follows: 

 Annual appropriation of funds for expenditures of all 
departments and interest on indebtedness:  In all cities, the 
Council shall appropriate the sums necessary for the 
expenditures of the several City departments and for the 
interest on its bonded and other indebtedness, not exceeding 
in the aggregate within ten (10) percent of its estimated 
expenses, and such City Council shall not appropriate in the 
aggregate an amount in excess of its annual legally 
authorized revenue.  But, nothing in this section shall 
prevent such cities from anticipating their revenues for the 
year for which such appropriation was made, or from 
contracting for temporary loans as provided in the 
applicable provision of this title, or from bonding or 
refunding their outstanding indebtedness or from 
appropriating anticipated revenue at any time for the 
current expenses of the City and interest on the bonded and 
other indebtedness of the City; and 



Ordinance Number 2788 
Page 2 

 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$39,938,657, of the municipal “general fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills for 

fiscal year 2018-2019 upon the terms, conditions, and provisions set forth below; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$2,933,678, of the municipal “special revenue fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills 

for fiscal year 2018-2019 upon the terms, conditions and provisions set forth below; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$1,834,862, of the “capital project fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills for fiscal 

year 2018-2019 upon the terms, conditions and provisions set forth below. 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$2,920,390, of the “infrastructure and community spaces project fund budget” for the City 

of Vestavia Hills for fiscal year 2018-2019 upon the terms, conditions and provisions set 

forth below. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

   1.  The municipal “general fund budget” for the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City Council is hereby 

approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $39,938,657, which said amount is 

not exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated expenses: 

$44,376,286 multiplied by 90% equals 
$39,938,657; and 

 
   2.  The municipal “special revenue fund budget” for the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City Council 

is hereby approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $2,933,678which said 

amount is not exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated expenses: 

$3,259,642 multiplied by 90% equals 
$2,933,678; and 

 

   3.  The “capital projects fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City Council is hereby 

approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $1,834,862which said amount is not 

exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated expenses: 



Ordinance Number 2788 
Page 3 

 

$2,038,735 multiplied by 90% equals 
$1,834,862; and 

 

   4.  The “infrastructure and community spaces fund budget” for the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City 

Council is hereby approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $2,920,390which 

said amount is not exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated 

expenses: 

$3,244,878 multiplied by 90% equals 
$2,920,390; and 

 

   5.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to expend the sum of 

$39,938,657 from the General Fund, $2,933,678 from the Special Revenue Fund, 

$1,834,862 from the Capital Projects Fund, and $2,920,390 from the Infrastructure and 

Community Spaces Fund for municipal expenses for the period beginning October 1, 2018, 

and ending September 30, 2019. 

   6.  Copies of the budget outlines are attached hereto, marked as 

Exhibit “A” and incorporated into this Resolution by reference as though set out fully 

herein. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, this Resolution shall become effective 

immediately upon its approval and adoption. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 10th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2788 
Page 4 

 

 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2788 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 10th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ 
day of ______________, 2018. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2788



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2788



Exhibit - Ordinance No. 2788



RESOLUTION NUMBER 5084 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE 
AND DELIVER AN AGREEMENT WITH SAIN ASSOCIATES FOR 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RELATED TO THE DESIGN OF THE 
COMMUNITY SPACES CONNECTOR SIDEWALK TAP PROJECT 

 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute and deliver an agreement with Sain 

Associates for professional services related to designing the Community Spaces Connector 

Sidewalk TAP Project at a cost of approximately $69,900; and 

2. Said agreement is marked as Exhibit A attached to and incorporated into this Resolution 

Number 5084 as though written fully therein; and 

3. This Resolution Number 5084 is effective immediately upon adoption and approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 10th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 



CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICES 

OFFICE OF CITY ENGINEER 
INTER-DEPARTMENT MEMO 

 
 
August 23, 2018 
 
To: Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
 
Cc: Brian Davis, Director of Public Services 

Jeff Downes, City Manager 
 
From: Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
 
RE: TAP Community Spaces Connector – Sain Proposal for Engineering Services 
 

 

Sain Associates has provided a proposal for civil engineering, surveying, environmental 
document, and lighting services related to designing the Community Spaces Connecter sidewalk 
that has been approved for TAP funding by ALDOT.  The overall intent of the project is to 
provide pedestrian connectivity from the future City recreation center to Wald Park.   

The funding agreement with ALDOT for this project was previously presented as a first read 
item at the August 13th City Council meeting.  Design services are not eligible for reimbursement 
under the grant. The total estimated budget for design services is $69,900.00. This includes 
survey, easement coordination, environmental documents, lighting design, construction 
documents, and permitting coordination.  

Please let me know if any questions. 

 

Sincerely, 

Christopher 

 

 



 

 
Two Perimeter Park South, Suite 500 East | Birmingham, Alabama 35243 | p: 205.940.6420 | f: 205.940.6433 | sain.com 

 

                                                                                                                                            August 07, 2018 

                                                                                 

Mr. Christopher Brady, PE 

City Engineer 

City of Vestavia Hills 

1032 Montgomery Highway 

Vestavia Hills, AL 35216 

              

 

SUBJECT: Proposal for Civil Engineering Services for 

  Community Spaces Connector TAP Project 

  Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

  Sain Project No. 18-0139 
 

 

Dear Mr. Brady: 

We are pleased to submit this proposal for civil engineering, surveying, environmental document, and 

lighting services related to designing the Community Spaces Connector sidewalk TAP Project.  We have 

compiled the following proposal for civil engineering services. 

 

GENERAL PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 

The following understanding is based on the January 02, 2018 revised Transportation Alternatives 

Program (TAP) application prepared by the City of Vestavia Hills, as well as conversations held with 

Vestavia Hills and ALDOT.   

 The primary project Team will consist of Sain Associates for surveying and civil engineering 

design, MRS Consultants, Inc. for the Phase I cultural resources survey, Environmental Inc. for an 

environmental survey, and Edmonds Engineering for lighting design. 

 The City has received a TAP grant to complete the project, and review of this project will flow 

through ALDOT, as well as the City. 

 The TAP funding is based on connecting to sidewalks near City Hall but the scope was reduce to 

tie to the existing Gold’s Gym parking lot as the City is preparing a site plan for a Community 

Building and the site plan design will connect the sidewalk through the parking lot and connect 

this sidewalk project to the existing sidewalk at City Hall.  The City will handle coordination with 

ALDOT for reducing the scope of the TAP project.  City will also handle coordination of the 

Community Center design with the Sain Associates design. 

 According to our conversation with ALDOT, there will be two separate reviews, PS&E and Final, 

that will consist of comments only, rather than their more extensive review process, and we have 

scoped this proposal as such. 

 This proposal includes topographic survey, civil design, environmental document, lighting design, 

and permitting with the City, ALDOT, and impacted utility companies. 

 The intent of the design will be to provide a six (6) feet wide sidewalk connecting to an existing 

sidewalk near Merryvale Road to the Vestavia Community Building, as shown on the enclosed 

concept.  Two concepts will be considered.  The approximate length is 1200 feet.  Should the 

concept be changed by the City to increase the scope of civil design, we would provide a 

supplemental proposal for such expanded scope. 

 A pedestrian bridge, per ALDOT special provision, will be necessary to cross an existing ditch.   

 Lighting shall consist of 32 LED decorative lamps spaced fifty (50) feet apart.   

 There will be no landscaping or irrigation required for this project.   

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



 
Community Spaces Connector TAP Project 

Vestavia Hills, AL 

18-0139  PAGE 2 

 

 

 The design plans will include the following, which are typically required for ALDOT approval: Title 

Sheet; Index/ Standard Drawings Sheet, Geometric Control Sheet, Typical Sections, Project 

Notes, Quantities, Layout Plan, Sidewalk Profiles, Traffic Control Plan, Erosion Control Plan, 

Drainage Profiles, Cross Sections (at 25’ spacing), Utility Relocation Plan (provided by others), 

and Details.   

 A geotechnical investigation and report is not required.  Sain will coordinate with the City on the 

best approach to the bidding as the excavation will most likely require rock removal.       

 In the design process, Sain will attempt to avoid impacts to utilities and the City will coordinate 

with affected utility owners. However, in the event that utility relocations are necessary, the City 

will coordinate with affected owners to include any relocation plans to be prepared by the 

utility owner. Sain’s design of utility relocations is not included within this scope, but may be 

provided under a supplemental agreement if requested by the City. 

 The City will prepare contract documents for the project, and the City will coordinate the 

advertising and bidding the project. ALDOT specifications will be utilized as the technical 

specifications for the work, and all bids received for the project will need to be reviewed by 

ALDOT. 

 During construction, Sain will be available to perform Construction Engineering and Inspection 

(CE&I) services for the City.  These services would be provided under a supplemental proposal.  

 This project will require an NPDES permit from ADEM if disturbance exceeds 1 acre.  The City will 

prepare the NPDES permit to be issued to the City, and our plans will require the contractor to 

transfer that permit into his name before construction begins.  The City will prepare an NPDES 

Stormwater Pollution Prevention Package for submittal to ADEM if disturbance exceeds 1 acre.   

 We understand that there are no anticipated environmental impacts in this project, and this 

proposal is based on completing the environmental Type 1 Programmatic Categorical Exclusions 

checklist with no impacts.   

 Our proposal is based on the information shown above.  If any of this information changes, 

please let us know, and we will revise our proposal. 

 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

I. Topographic Survey, Easement Drawings, and Legal Descriptions 

We will perform a topographic survey of the project area, as shown on the attached site map.  

Contours will be shown at 1-foot intervals and based from USGS datum.  Spot elevations will be 

shown in flat areas.  Two benchmarks will be set on site.  We will show visible utilities and 

subsurface utilities as marked by utility companies or as shown on maps.  We will coordinate with 

Alabama One Call requesting all subsurface utilities situated in public right-of-way marked to 

enable an accurate location and depiction of the subsurface utilities.  Alabama One Call does 

NOT mark any utilities that are within the limits of private property. It is the responsibility of the 

client to coordinate with a private line locator to have any subsurface utilities within the limits of 

private property, to be located by Sain Associates, marked prior to our arrival. Visible drainage 

structures will be shown indicating top and invert elevations as well as type and size of pipes.  

Visible improvements will be shown including buildings, walls, fences, sidewalks, curbs, parking 

areas, and paved areas. Landscaped areas and tree lines will be shown on survey, individual 

shrubs and trees will NOT be shown on survey. (See attached Site Map for approximate 

location). 

We will prepare easement exhibits and legal descriptions in the areas the trail will cross the 

property of Tree Top Apartments, Lot 1 as recorded in Map Book 93, Page 28 in the Probate 

office of Jefferson County, Alabama, and the property of Southminster Presbyterian Church, Lot 

2 as recorded in Map Book 93 Page 28, Deed Book 9712 Page 844, and Deed Book 9807 Page 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



 
Community Spaces Connector TAP Project 

Vestavia Hills, AL 

18-0139  PAGE 3 

 

 

8407 in the Probate Office of Jefferson County, Alabama.  The City will handle securing the 

easement. 

Exclusions 

This survey is not to be construed as an ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey. No easements, liens, 

encumbrances, or other items that might be reveled in a Land Title search will be researched, 

drawn or located. No sub surface utility locations, other than the locations listed in the above 

scope of work, will be researched or shown. This is not a boundary survey.  

 

II. PCE Checklist 

Based on conversations with ALDOT, a PCE1 Document (Programmatic Categorical Exclusion 

Level 1) will be required for completion of the project.  Sain Associates will prepare this PCE1 

Document, and will team with MRS Consultants, LLC. and Environmental, Inc. to complete the 

environmental studies that will be necessary for inclusion within the document. Due to the fact 

that right-of-way acquisitions and/or temporary construction easements will be required, it is 

likely that a PCE2 (Programmatic Categorical Exclusion Level 2) will be required and prepared 

by ALDOT. Preparation of the PCE2 Document is excluded from this scope. In the event it is 

determined a more comprehensive level of document is required for environmental clearance, 

a supplemental agreement will need to be executed as part of the scope of this project. Since 

discussion with ALDOT have resulted in a concurrence to prepare a PCE1 Document, 

preparation for and attendance at the Federal Highway Administration Kickoff meeting have 

been excluded from this contract. The PCE1 document shall consist of evaluating: 

 

1. Project Purpose 

2. Right-of-Way 

3. Streams/Wetlands/Waterways/Coastal Zone 

4. Floodplain/Floodway 

5. Threatened/Endangered Species 

6. Cultural Resources 

7. Hazardous Materials 

8. Environmental Commitments 

9. Bicycle and Pedestrian Accommodations 

 

III. Lighting Design 

Sain Associates will subcontract with Edmonds Engineering to prepare the lighting design.   

 

IV. Construction Documents 

The construction plans will include the following, which are typically required for ALDOT 

approval: Title Sheet; Index/ Standard Drawings Sheet, Geometric Control Sheet, Typical 

Sections, Project Notes, Quantities, Layout Plan, Sidewalk Profiles, Traffic Control Plan, Erosion 

Control Plan, Drainage Profiles, Cross Sections (at 25’ spacing), Utility Relocation Plan (if provided 

by utility owners), and Details.  We will reference ALDOT technical specifications in our design.  

Sain will prepare quantities and an opinion of probable cost.   

V. Permitting and Plan Reviews 

We will submit our design plans to and coordinate with the City of Vestavia Hills, ALDOT,  

affected utilities, and Jefferson County, if necessary, regarding the proposed improvements.  We 

have included time to make reasonable plan revisions if required by governing authority review.  

We do not anticipate any public hearings (re-zoning, variances, conditional use, etc.) and have 

excluded this coordination or attendance at any public meetings.  The City will prepare the 

required submittal package to ADEM for issuance of an NPDES permit, if necessary.  We will 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



 
Community Spaces Connector TAP Project 

Vestavia Hills, AL 

18-0139  PAGE 4 

 

 

coordinate with respective utility companies for adjustments of existing utilities impacted by this 

project.   

 

We will also coordinate with ALDOT for approval of this TAP project, which we anticipate will 

involve two separate submittal packages, as on other TAP projects we have done in the past.  

We have included time for one (1) meeting with ALDOT.   

 

 

EXCLUSIONS 

The following services are excluded from this proposal but can be provided if deemed necessary and 

requested by you: the cost of filing fees for permits and approvals; public meetings or zoning activities; 

geotechnical studies; environmental studies or permitting not specifically included within this scope; 

permitting with United State Corps of Engineers; permitting with ADEM; off-site utility main extensions; 

utility coordination; retaining wall design; traffic impact studies; boundary surveys; platting, and/or 

subdivision coordination; coordination with property owners for securing easement; property appraisal; 

construction stakeout; sanitary sewer lift station design; bid package, advertising, and pre-bid meeting; 

full time CE&I (inspections); stormwater inspections during construction; or other scope not specifically 

included.  Although not anticipated at this time, any work listed above that may arise will not begin until 

we have received written authorization from you to proceed. 

 

FEES  

We propose to provide the above described services based on the following fee schedule: 

I. Topographic Survey, Easement Drawings, and Legal Descriptions ....... Lump Sum $9,600.00  

II. PCE Checklist .............................................................. Hourly with Maximum Budget of $9,000.00 

III. Lighting Design .................................................................................................  Lump Sum $7,500.00 

IV. Construction Documents .............................................................................  Lump Sum $30,500.00 

V. Permitting and Plan Reviews ................................  Hourly with Maximum Budget of $13,300.00 

  

 Total Estimated Budget ................................................................................................  $69,900.00 

 

PROCEDURES FOR CHANGES IN SCOPE OF WORK 

The scope of work documented herein is based upon information known as of the date of this proposal.  

Should future changes (e.g. site plan, regulatory, project phasing, additional meetings, etc.) necessitate 

changes in the scope of work, we will contact you to discuss the scope of the additional work and its 

impact to our contracted fees and project schedule. No additional work will be undertaken by Sain 

without your authorization. 

 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

This contract is subject to the enclosed Terms and Conditions.  All subsequent services required by you 

outside the scope of service specified will be performed on a time and materials basis according to the 

schedule of rates enclosed.  Any modification to this contract document must be approved in writing 

by both parties with approval indicated by each signatory’s initials and the date of approval. 

 

PROPOSAL LIMITATIONS 

We reserve the right to revise this proposal if not contracted within 60 days. 

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



 
Community Spaces Connector TAP Project 

Vestavia Hills, AL 

18-0139  PAGE 5 

 

 

Sain Associates has provided this proposal with the understanding that you have selected our firm to 

perform professional services based upon our staff’s qualifications, experience and reputation and not 

solely upon the cost of the services proposed.  We trust the fees outlined herein are acceptable and 

within your project budgetary plans.  We look forward to commencement of the work and will be glad 

to address any questions or concerns you have regarding the technical scope and/or schedule of fees 

for this proposal.  If you should request additional prices for the scope of work included herein from 

other consulting engineers and/or land surveyors, please consider our proposal withdrawn in order to 

comply with Alabama Administrative Code Chapter 330-X-14-.05(f). 

 

SCHEDULE 

We are prepared to begin immediately upon your approval of this agreement. 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide this proposal.  If you have any questions or need clarification 

on any item, please call me.  We look forward to working with you.

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

SAIN ASSOCIATES, INC. 

 
 

Alicia Bailey, P.E. 

Infrastructure  

Alabama License No. 26339 

 

 

Enclosures: 
Sain Terms & Conditions (sch. 2018) 

Concepts 

Survey Exhibit 

OFFERED: 

SAIN ASSOCIATES, INC. 

BY: James A. Meads / President / AL No.17294 

 

 ___________________________________  
Signature of Authorized Representative 

 

Date:  08/07/18    

 

ACCEPTED: 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 

 

BY: _______________________________________ 
Signature of Authorized Representative 

 

_______________________________________ 
Print Name & Title 

 

Date: _______________________________________ 

 

cc: Alicia Bailey  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



 
Community Spaces Connector TAP Project 

Vestavia Hills, AL 

18-0139  PAGE 6 

 

 

SAIN ASSOCIATES, INC. 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

Rates: 

Principal ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................ $167.00 - $187.00 per Hour 

Engineer/Planner .......................................................................................................................................................................................................... $98.00 - $152.00 per Hour 

Designer .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... $82.00 - $117.00 per Hour 

GIS Professional ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................ $133.00 per Hour 

Surveyor .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... $93.00 - $130.00 per Hour 

Survey Crew (1-Person)................................................................................................................................................................................................................. $90.00 per Hour 

Survey Crew (2-Person)............................................................................................................................................................................................................... $135.00 per Hour 

Survey Crew (3-Person)............................................................................................................................................................................................................... $175.00 per Hour 

Survey Crew (Overtime, Holidays – 2-Person) ......................................................................................................................................................................* $175.00 per Hour 

Survey Crew (Overtime, Holidays – 3-Person) ......................................................................................................................................................................* $215.00 per Hour 

Survey Per Diem ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... $100.00 per Man per Night 

Administrative Support ................................................................................................................................................................................................................. $60.00 per Hour 

 

* Overtime rate is based on working over 8 hours a day. 

 

Reimbursable Expenses 

Printing and travel expenses are included within our basic fee.  Permitting and advertising fees are not included within our basic fee and will be passed 

along to you at our cost, plus 10%.  

 

Payment 

To be made monthly based upon the percentage of work completed and invoiced to you.  Your obligation to pay for services rendered hereunder is in 

no way dependent upon your ability to obtain financing, to obtain payment from a third party, or to obtain approval of any governmental or regulatory 

agencies, or upon your successful completion of the project.  If any payment due for services and expenses hereunder is not made in full within thirty (30) 

days after receipt of invoice, the amounts due Sain Associates, Inc., shall include a charge at the rate of 1½% per month from said thirtieth (30th) day, 

plus attorney’s fees for collection in the amount of 1/3 of the outstanding balance or such greater amount as the court finds reasonable.  In addition, we 

reserve the right to suspend services under this agreement until receipt of payment in full for all amounts due for services rendered and expenses 

incurred.   

 

Standard of Care 

The standard of care for all professional services performed or furnished by Sain Associates under this Agreement will be the skill and care used by members 

of Consultant’s profession practicing under similar circumstances at the same time and in the same locality.  Sain makes no warranties, express or implied, 

under this Agreement or otherwise, in connection with Sain’s services. 

 

Responsibility of the Client 

Client shall provide all criteria and full information as to his requirements for the Project, including budgetary limitations. 

 

Schedules, Budgets and Estimates or Opinions of Cost 

Any schedules or completion dates, budgets, or estimates of cost prepared by Consultant represent Consultant’s professional judgment based on its 

experience and available information.  Since neither Consultant nor Client has control over: the cost of labor, materials, or equipment, or contractor’s 

methods of determining prices; competitive bidding or market conditions; utility conflicts or right-of-way acquisition; agency approval times or actions of a 

Consultant Program Manager not employed by Sain, the Consultant cannot and does not warrant or represent that actual schedules, budgets or 

completion dates or actual costs will not vary from schedules or completion dates, budgets or estimates of cost prepared by Consultant or proposed, 

established, or approved by Client. 

 

Use of Electronic Media 

Copies of documents that may be relied upon by the Client are limited to the printed copies (also known as hard copies) that are signed or sealed by 

Consultant.  Files in electronic media format or text, data, graphic or other types that are furnished by Consultant to Client are only for convenience of the 

Client.  Any conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the user’s sole risk.  When transferring documents in electronic 

media format, Consultant makes no representations as to long-term compatibility, usability, or readability of documents resulting from the use of software 

application, operating systems or computer hardware differing from those in use by Consultant at the beginning of this assignment. 

 

Dispute Resolution 

Client and Sain Associates agree that if a dispute arises out of or relates to this contract, the parties will attempt to settle the dispute through good faith 

negotiations.  If direct negotiations do not resolve the dispute, the parties agree to endeavor to settle the dispute by mediation prior to the initiation of 

any legal action unless delay in initiating legal action would irrevocably prejudice one of the parties.  Mediation to take place in County where project is 

located and if mediation cannot be agreed upon by parties then it is agreed that AAA (American Arbitration Association) will appoint mediator. 

 

Indemnification 

Client and Consultant each agree to indemnify and hold the other harmless, and their respective officers, employees, agents and representatives, from 

and against liability for all claims, losses, damages and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, to the extent such claims, losses, damages, or 

expenses are caused by the indemnifying party’s negligent acts, errors or omissions.  In the event claims, losses, damages or expenses are caused by the 

joint or concurrent negligence of Client and Consultant, they shall be borne by each party in proportion to its negligence. 

 

Force Majeure 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



 
Community Spaces Connector TAP Project 

Vestavia Hills, AL 

18-0139  PAGE 7 

 

 

Neither party shall be deemed in default of this Agreement to the extent that any delay or failure in the performance of its obligations results from any 

cause beyond its reasonable control and without its negligence. 

 

Termination of Contract 

Client may terminate this Agreement with seven days prior written notice to Consultant for convenience or cause.  Consultant may terminate this 

Agreement for cause with seven days prior written notice to Client.  Failure of Client to make payments when due shall be cause for suspension of 

services or, ultimately, termination, unless and until Consultant has been paid in full all amounts due for services, expenses and other related charges. In 

the event of termination, Consultant must reimburse Client for any payments by Client to Consultant for services not performed. 

 

Ownership of Documents 

All documents prepared or furnished by Consultant pursuant to this Agreement are instruments of Consultant’s professional service, and Consultant shall 

retain an ownership and property interest therein.  Consultant grants Client a license to use instruments of Consultant’s professional service for the 

purpose of constructing, occupying and maintaining the Project.  Reuse or modification of any such documents by Client, without Consultant’s written 

permission, shall be at Client’s sole risk, and Client agrees to indemnify and hold Consultant harmless from all claims, damages and expenses, including 

attorneys’ fees, arising out of such reuse by Client or by others acting through Client. 

 

 

 

Schedule 2018 

 

  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



 
Community Spaces Connector TAP Project 

Vestavia Hills, AL 

18-0139  PAGE 8 

 

 

Concept Exhibit 

  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



 
Community Spaces Connector TAP Project 

Vestavia Hills, AL 

18-0139  PAGE 9 

 

 

SURVEY EXHIBIT 

 

 

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



  MRS Consultants, LLC.  
 Cultural Resource Specialists      Phase I Assessments      Section 106 Compliance 
 
 July 16, 2018 
 
Jennifer Brown 
Sain Associates, Inc. 
Two Perimeter Park South 
Suite 500 East 
Birmingham, Alabama  35243  
 
Re: Phase I Cultural Resources Survey for a Proposed TAP Sidewalk Project from Merryvale Road to a 
Vestavia Municipal Building in Vestavia, Jefferson County, Alabama  
 
Dear Jennifer:   
 

Thank you for contacting MRS Consultants, LLC regarding the above referenced project. A cost 
proposal is attached for MRS to conduct a Phase I cultural resources assessment survey for the proposed 
project. The project involves a proposed TAP sidewalk project from Merryvale Road to a Vestavia 
Municipal Building in Vestavia, Alabama. The exact route of the sidewalk is undetermined, but the 
survey area includes approximately 2.5 acres of land. All phases of the research will be conducted in 
compliance with the guidelines set forth by the Alabama Historical Commission (AHC) and will consider 
both archaeological and historic structural resources in the study area, as well as historic resources that 
may exist in the surrounding Area of Potential Effect (APE). 
 

This contract will entail a Phase I cultural resources assessment of the survey area.  There will be 
three general stages to this project: 1) Background Research; 2) Field Research; and 3) Analysis and 
Reporting.  Following is a brief description of each stage of research. 
 

Stage 1: This stage of research includes the background research conducted before the field 
investigation.  Background research will be conducted to identify any known cultural resources within the 
study area, especially archaeological sites, cemeteries, historic structures, and historic communities.  This 
research will also serve to identify the potential for such resources.  Several sources will be consulted 
during the research, including but not necessarily limited to the Alabama State Site File (ASSF), the 
National Register of Historic Places (NRHP), the Alabama Register of Landmarks & Heritage (ARLH), 
and the Online Archaeological GIS website for Alabama.  

 
Stage 2: This stage will include the field assessment of the project area, and will document 

archaeological sites, cemeteries, and historic structures.  The project area will receive a pedestrian review.  
Standard archaeological techniques will be employed during the survey, especially visual observation of 
the ground surface and subsurface shovel testing. Environmental conditions and shovel tests will be 
documented on field maps.  Shovel tests generally will measure 30 cm in diameter and will be excavated 
into subsoil.  Soils will be sifted through a 6 mm mesh screen to search for cultural material.  Any 
artifacts recovered during the investigation will be bagged by provenience, and returned to the laboratory 
for analysis.  Each discovered resource (archaeological sites, cemeteries, and historic structures) will be 
evaluated to a preliminary level necessary for determining its potential eligibility for inclusion on the 
NRHP.  Standard information will be derived for each archaeological site, i.e. GPS coordinates, 
dimensions, vertical depth, positive/negative shovel tests, environmental context, photographs, sketch 
maps, etc. The architectural survey will also document any historic structures that exist on adjacent 
properties, if any exist.  

 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



MRS Consultants, LLC.  
TAP Vestavia Sidewalk Project, Jefferson County, AL   
 
 

2 

Stage 3:   This stage includes the laboratory analysis and preparation of the technical report and other 
documentation. Artifacts will undergo standard laboratory procedures, i.e. washing, analysis, and 
preparation for curation.  ASSF forms will be completed for each archaeological site, which will be 
submitted to the ASSF for a permanent site number. Historic properties identified during the survey will 
be described.  A technical report will be written detailing the survey and findings of the research.  
Recommendations of NRHP eligibility will be made for each cultural resource.  Those cultural resources 
that are considered Not Eligible for the NRHP will be recommended for clearance.  Those cultural 
resources that have an Undetermined or Potentially Eligible NRHP eligibility will be recommended for 
avoidance or additional research.  
 

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to call me on my cell phone at (205) 242-8650.  We 
look forward to working with you, and thank you for considering MRS Consultants, LLC. 
 

Sincerely, 
 

         
 

Catherine C. Meyer 
MRS Consultants, LLC. 

 
Enclosure

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



MRS Consultants, LLC.  
TAP Vestavia Sidewalk Project, Jefferson County, AL   
 
 

3 

July 16, 2018 
 
 COST PROPOSAL 
 

Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment 
for a Proposed TAP Sidewalk Project from Merryvale Road to a Vestavia Municipal Building 

 in Vestavia, Jefferson County, Alabama  

     PERSONNEL COSTS No. Days Daily Rate Costs 

     Background Research/Administration 
   

 
MRS Cultural Resource Specialist 0.50  $350.00   $175.00  

     Fieldwork 
   

 
MRS Cultural Resource Specialist 1.00  $350.00   $350.00  

 
Research Assistant 1.00  $250.00   $250.00  

     Lab Analysis/Report/Drafting 
   

 
Research Assistant 0.50  $250.00   $125.00  

 
Cultural Resource Specialist 2.50  $350.00   $875.00  

  
Personnel Subtotal  $1,775.00  

OPERATING BUDGET 
   

 
AHC Research--Per Diem ($20.00/day) 0  $20.00   $0.00    

 
AHC Research--Mileage (.54/mile) 0  $0.540   $0.00    

 
Fieldwork--Per Diem ($20.00/day) 2  $20.00   $40.00  

 
Fieldwork--Mileage (.54/mile) 130  $0.540   $70.20  

 
Miscellaneous Supplies/Equipment 

  
 $25.00  

  
Total Operating  $135.20  

     INDIRECT COSTS ON OPERATING (43%) 
  

 $58.14  

     TOTAL COSTS 
  

 $1,968.34  

     LUMP SUM/FIXED PRICE 
  

 $1,970.00  
 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



 

ENVIRONMENTAL, INC. 
1345 Blair Farms Road, Odenville, Alabama 35120 
Environmental, Remediation, and Ecological Consultants 

 

Phone:  (205) 629-3868 • Fax: (877) 847-3060 

 

June 22, 2018 

 

Ms. Jennifer Brown 

Sain Associates, Inc. 

Two Perimeter Park South, Suite 500 East 

Birmingham, Alabama 35243 

 

Subject: 

Proposed Scope of Services & Fees 
Vestavia TAP Corridor Project 

 Jefferson County, Alabama 
Environmental, Inc. Proposal No.: E18-293 

 

Dear Ms. Brown: 

 

Environmental, Inc. is pleased to provide this proposed Scope of Services to be performed on the Vestavia TAP Corridor 

Project in Jefferson County, Alabama.  Based on the information provided, it is our understanding that the project area 

will include a vegetated area that connects Merryvale Road to a Vestavia Municipal Building; the limits of the project area 

were provided to our office via electronic mail on June 18, 2018.   

 

I. WETLAND & WATERS OF THE U.S. DELINEATION SCOPE 
 

Environmental, Inc. will provide qualified personnel to assess the property and determine the presence/absence of any 

potential jurisdictional wetlands and/or Waters of the U.S., as defined by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) 

Field Guide for Wetland Delineation, 1987 Corps of Engineers Manual (Manual) and the Regional Supplement to the 

Corps of Engineers Manual for the Eastern Mountains and Piedmont Region (April 2012). The Wetland Delineation will 

include, at a minimum, the following services: 

 

 A review of publically available aerial photographs and hydrologic maps. 

 

 A reconnaissance of the subject site to review representative vegetation and hydrology information. 

 

 Photographic documentation of the site. 

 

 Flagging and classification of the identified jurisdictional features (if any) on the site. 

 

 Generation of a Wetland Delineation Report summarizing the findings of the field activities. 

 

 

COST 
Wetland Delineation  .......................................................................................................................$ 1,000.00 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



Proposed Scope of Services & Fees 

Vestavia TAP Corridor Project 

Jefferson County, Alabama 

Environmental, Inc. Proposal No.:  E18-293 

 

 

II. THREATENED & ENDANGERED SPECIES EVALUATION SCOPE 
 

Environmental, Inc. will provide qualified personnel to conduct a Threatened & Endangered Species Evaluation in 

accordance with US Fish & Wildlife Service procedures and will include, at a minimum, the following services: 

 

 A review of published literature regarding the watershed, geology, soils, and topography of the general area of the 

site. 

 

 Consultation with the US Fish & Wildlife Service Daphne Field Office regarding potentially occurring imperiled 

species within the project area. 

 

 A review of published literature regarding habitat requirements, known distributions, and Recovery Plans for each 

target species. 

 

 A review of historical aerial photographs depicting the general area of the site. 

 

 A site reconnaissance to observe the site for target species and target species habitat. 

 

 Generation of a Threatened & Endangered Species Evaluation Report detailing our findings.  

 

COST 
Threatened & Endangered Species Evaluation  ...........................................................................$ 600.00 
 
 

III.    HAZARDOUS MATERIALS EVALUATION SCOPE 
 

The Hazardous Materials Evaluation will utilize ASTM Standards on Environmental Site Assessments for Commercial 

Real Estate (ASTM E 1527-13) and will include, at a minimum, the following services: 

 

 A review of published literature regarding the geology, soils, and topography of the general area of the project. 

 

 A site reconnaissance to observe the site and adjacent properties for evidence of recognized environmental 

conditions as defined in ASTM E 1527-13. 

 

 A review of environmental regulatory records regarding the project areas and surrounding properties. 

 

 A review of City Directories, and/or a review of available historical maps depicting the project area or project 

vicinity. 

 

 A review of available aerial photographs depicting the general area of the project. 

 

 Generation of a Hazardous Materials Evaluation report. 

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



Proposed Scope of Services & Fees 

Vestavia TAP Corridor Project 

Jefferson County, Alabama 

Environmental, Inc. Proposal No.:  E18-293 

 

COST 
Hazardous Materials Evaluation  ...................................................................................................$ 1,400.00 
 

 

CLOSING & SCHEDULE 
 

We are prepared to begin the assessment field work within ten business days of authorization to proceed. The 

complete reports for each service would be submitted to your office within 30 days following notice to proceed.  
 

Terms and Conditions for these services would be in accordance with the guidelines established in Sain Associates 

Consultant Contract for Services. 

 

Thank you for allowing us to submit this information.  We appreciate your consideration of Environmental, Inc.  If you 

have any questions concerning this proposal, please call (205) 629-3868 or email cstinnett@envciv.com. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL, INC. 

 

 
Chad Stinnett 

Senior Project Scientist 

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



  
 

BIRMINGHAM               HUNTSVILLE              JACKSON               NASHVILLE              TUSCALOOSA      

WWW.EDMONDSENGINEERING.COM 
 1 / 6 

2 Riverchase Office Plaza 
Suite 205 

Hoover, AL 35244 
(205) 988-2069 

 
 

June 29, 2018 

 

Sain Associates 

2 Perimeter Park South 

Suite 500 East 

Birmingham, AL 35243 

 

Attention:    Erin L. Curry, P.E. 

Subject:   Vestavia Hills Lighting Proposal 

Edmonds Project No.:  BHM18138 

   

Dear Erin: 

 

We are pleased to offer the following proposal for the design of the Electrical systems 
for the subject project: 

FACILITY  

The project consists of approximately 1300 feet of sidewalk pathway lighting every 50 
linear feet (fixture to be compliant with ALDOT standards and specs and cannot be sole-
sourced).  Location is just west of US 31 near Merryvale Lane.  No receptacles, 
cameras, or irrigation control are required on the poles.  Sain will handle utility 
coordination.  Any ALDOT forms/worksheets and ALDOT specific meetings are not 
included as it is not anticipated that they will be required.  If such scope is required, 
assistance will be provided if time is 1-2 hours but any substantial amount over that not 
being anticipated or specified now would obviously need to be handled on an hourly 
basis. 

PROJECT SCOPE / DESIGN SERVICES 

1. Site survey to gather existing conditions and develop and assist with new fixture 
layout. 

2. New electrical service, distribution panels, and circuiting for new light poles from 
Alabama Power service points.  This assumes suitable power is located adjacent to 
the pathway or if not that any utility relocation, extensions, etc. will be 
provided/coordinated by others so that Edmonds will show connection to a nearby 
(within 200’) pole, transformer, or other APCO power source. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



  
 

BIRMINGHAM               HUNTSVILLE              JACKSON               NASHVILLE              TUSCALOOSA      

WWW.EDMONDSENGINEERING.COM 
 2 / 6 

3. Cost estimate for item 1 above. 

4. Complete drawings and copy ready specifications suitable for competitive bids and 
construction.  Drawings and documents furnished for each deliverable will be 
transmitted in electronic digital file format ready for reproduction (Adobe Acrobat 
.pdf). 

PROJECT CONSTRUCTION PERIOD SERVICES 

Construction period services shall not be included as requested, but can be performed 
as a separate proposal. As a result, Edmonds Engineering, Inc. and its employees have 
no involvement in the observation of the construction and installation of the engineered 
systems designed, thus neither Edmonds Engineering, Inc. nor its owners, engineers, or 
employees shall be held liable for any improperly operating or potentially unsafe or 
unsanitary conditions which may arise as a result of such installations. 

SITE VISITS AND / OR MEETINGS 

We have included the following maximum number of site visits and / or meetings: 

(1) 

One for pre-construction survey 

NOT INCLUDED 

Our Proposal does not include the following: 

1. Construction period services including submittal review or final observation. 

2. Any printing or plotting other than for internal and coordination purposes. 

3. Any out of town trips or site visits, except as noted above. 

4. Any travel or per diem expenses for site visits. 

5. Design for “Fast Track” construction. 

6. Any other utilities other than the site lighting electrical service(s).  Utility coordination 
is handled by Sain according to email of 6/27/2018. 

7. Standyby/generator backup design 

8. Auxiliary, cameras, or other power/receptacle, irrigation, etc. design. 

9. Advertising for bids. 

10. As-built drawings. 

11. Storm drainage. 

12. Sewage lift station, or onsite sewage disposal. 

13. Design for renovation of existing facilities other than those described above. 

14. Design for future expansion 

15. Seismic design for components 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



  
 

BIRMINGHAM               HUNTSVILLE              JACKSON               NASHVILLE              TUSCALOOSA      

WWW.EDMONDSENGINEERING.COM 
 3 / 6 

16. ALDOT specific meetings, forms/worksheets requiring more than 1-2 hours to 
complete or assist in completion 

The above items not included in the scope of work can be billed as additional services if 
requested. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY CLIENT 

The Client agrees to furnish Edmonds Engineering, Inc. with the following: 

1. A site plan of the facility in AutoCAD DWG or Revit format. 

2. Architectural plans or computer files as required to define the construction of the 
facility, including building sections, elevations, and details.  

3. A site plan indicating locations and sizes of all above ground and below ground 
utilities. 

FEE   

Per your request, we offer a lump sum fee as follows: 

 

Total MEP lump sum fee for =   $  7,500.00 

PAYMENT 

To be made monthly based on percentage of the work completed up to 80% of the fee.  
The remaining 20% will be paid monthly over the construction time frame. 

Any payments due over 60 days shall be subject to interest of 1 ½% per month, and we 
reserve the right to stop work until payment is received. Reasonable Attorney’s fees that 
we incur for collections shall be paid by the client. 

ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

Edmonds Engineering, Inc. may also perform additional services not included above at 
the request of the Client. Additional services, which shall be billed on an hourly basis as 
set forth in the Hourly Fee schedule below, may include, but shall not be limited to: 

 

1. Construction Administration Services 

2. Design work not within the “Scope of Work”. 

3. Detailed cost estimates. 

4. Additional work which is due to the “Information Provided by Client” being 
incomplete. 

5. Additional site visitation. 

6. Excessive revisions to drawings or specifications inconsistent with instructions 
previously given. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



  
 

BIRMINGHAM               HUNTSVILLE              JACKSON               NASHVILLE              TUSCALOOSA      

WWW.EDMONDSENGINEERING.COM 
 4 / 6 

7. Consultations made necessary by major defects in Contractor’s work. 

8. Bi-weekly or monthly site visits during construction, depending on project size and 
complexity. 

 

 

Hourly Fee  

Regional Manager $205 / hr. 

Team Leader $195 / hr. 

Group/Account Manager $180 / hr. 

Project Manager 2 $160 / hr. 

Project Manager 1 $155 / hr. 

BIM Manager $130 / hr. 

Project Engineer 2 $115 / hr. 

Project Engineer 1 $110 / hr. 

Project Designer 3 $130 / hr. 

Project Designer 2 $105 / hr. 

Project Designer 1 $100 / hr. 

Office Manager $80 / hr. 

 

LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 

Client agrees to limit Edmonds’ liability to the sum of $50,000 or Edmonds’ fee, whichever 
is greater. The limitation shall apply regardless of the cause of action or legal theory pled 
or asserted and shall extend to Edmonds’ officers, directors and employees. 

 

By signing this Proposal, Client agrees to Edmonds’ Terms and Conditions, which are 
attached to this Proposal and are part of this Proposal. 

Thank you for the opportunity to submit this proposal. We look forward to working with 
you. If you have any questions, please call. 

 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



  
 

BIRMINGHAM               HUNTSVILLE              JACKSON               NASHVILLE              TUSCALOOSA      

WWW.EDMONDSENGINEERING.COM 
 5 / 6 

 

 

Sincerely,      Accepted by, 

 

EDMONDS ENGINEERING, INC.   Sain Associates 

 

             

Name       Signature, Title & Date  

PROJECT MANAGER 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



  
 

BIRMINGHAM               HUNTSVILLE              JACKSON               NASHVILLE              TUSCALOOSA      

WWW.EDMONDSENGINEERING.COM 
 6 / 6 

 

 

Terms and Conditions 
 
1. These terms and conditions are incorporated into the letter proposal between Edmonds Engineering, 

Inc. (“Edmonds”) and the Client as if set forth fully therein. 
2. In providing services under its Proposal, Edmonds shall perform its services in a manner consistent with 

that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the same profession while acting 
under the same or similar circumstances at the same time and in the same locality. Edmonds makes 
no warranty, express or implied, as to its professional services provided under its Proposal. 

3. Edmonds shall have no responsibility for any contractor’s means, methods, techniques, equipment 
choice and usage, sequence, schedule, safety programs or safety practices, nor shall Edmonds have 
any authority or responsibility to stop or direct the work of any contractor. However, Edmonds shall 
have the authority to reject work which does not conform to Edmonds’ plans, drawings and/or 
specifications. 

4. Any review by Edmonds of shop drawings or submittals shall be for general compliance with the 
contract documents and shall not relieve the contractor from compliance with the contract 
documents. 

5. In performing its scope of work, Edmonds shall have the right to rely on the accuracy of documents 
provided by the Client or any contractor or other design professional hired by the Client. 

6. Client is responsible for notifying Edmonds when site visits are to be made by Edmonds. Client shall 
provide Edmonds with reasonable notice of when Edmonds is to conduct its site visit(s). 

7. In no event shall Edmonds or Client be liable to the other for special, indirect, incidental or 
consequential damages. 

8. In the event of a dispute arising out of or relating to the Proposal or Edmonds’ scope of work, Edmonds 
and the Client agree to attempt to resolve any such disputes as follows: 

 First: Edmonds and Client agree to attempt to resolve such disputes through direct negotiations 
between Edmonds and Client. 

 Second: If such negotiations do not fully resolve the dispute(s) between Edmonds and Client, 
Edmonds and Client agree to attempt to resolve any remaining dispute(s) by formal non-binding 
mediation. Edmonds and Client agree mediation is a condition precedent to litigation. Edmonds and 
Client agree to split the costs of mediation equally. 

 Third: Edmonds and Client agree the exclusive venue for any dispute arising out of or related to the 
Proposal or Edmonds’ scope of work shall be in State Court in Jefferson County, Alabama- 
Birmingham Division. 

9. Edmonds agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold harmless the Client   
against all damages, liabilities or costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and defense costs, to the 
extent caused by Edmonds’ negligent performance of professional services under the Proposal or 
Edmonds’ scope of work. The Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and 
hold harmless Edmonds, its officers, directors, employees and subconsultants against all damages, 

liabilities or costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and defense costs, to the extent caused by the 
Client’s negligent acts in connection with the Proposal, Edmonds’ scope of work and the acts of 
Client’s contractors, subcontractors or consultants or anyone for whom the Client is legally liable. 
Neither the Client nor Edmonds shall be obligated to indemnify the other party in any manner 
whatsoever for the other party’s own negligence. 

10. Edmonds shall carry the following insurance and limits of liability throughout its work for the Client  
  under the Proposal: 
  Commercial General Liability -  $1,000,000 per occurrence/$2,000,000 aggregate/ 
  $5,000,000 umbrella aggregate 
  Worker’s Compensation Insurance- statutory 
  Automobile Liability Insurance -  $1,000,000 per accident 
  Professional Liability Insurance -  $2,000,000 per claim/$2,000,000 aggregate 
11. All documents prepared by Edmonds arising out of or relating to the Proposal or Edmonds’ scope of  
  work are instruments of service and shall remain the property of Edmonds. Such documents and    
  instruments of service    
  are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by Client or others on any other project. 
12. Electronic files that are furnished by Edmonds are only for the convenience of Client. In the event of a   
  discrepancy between the electronic files and the hard copies, the hard copies govern. 
13. This Proposal shall be subject to termination by Edmonds or Client, with or without cause upon twenty    
  (20)days advance notice in writing. Edmonds shall not be required to provide its instruments of  
  service to Client until Edmonds is paid for the appropriate percentage of its work completed under  
  the Proposal. 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5084



Resolution Number 5085 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5085 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A BID FOR WALD PARK INITIAL SITE 
PACKAGE FOR THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 
 WHEREAS, on August 22, 2018 at 10:00 a.m. the City of Vestavia Hills publicly read 

aloud bids submitted for Wald Park Initial Site Package for the City of Vestavia Hills; and 

 WHEREAS, a copy of the bid tabulation for said bids is marked as Exhibit A, attached to 

this Resolution Number 5085; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s consultant for the Community Spaces Project, Ken UpChurch, 

TCU Consulting Services LLC, submitted a letter to the City Manager reviewed the bids, detailed 

them in a letter dated August 22, 2018 recommending acceptance of the bid package submitted by 

Forestry Environmental a copy of which is marked as Exhibit A and is attached to and incorporated 

into this Resolution Number 5085 as if written fully therein; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to follow the 

recommendation of the Consultant and accept said bid as detailed above. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The bid submitted by Forestry Environmental as detailed in Exhibit A is attached and 

recommended by the City Manager and TCU is hereby accepted; and 

2. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute and deliver any and all documents 

necessary to secure said agreement and/or for said services; and 

3. This Resolution Number 5085 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 10th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor  
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 





 

August 22, 2018 

 

Mr. Jeff Downes 

City Manager 

City of Vestavia Hills 

1032 Montgomery Highway 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama 35216 

 

Re:  Wald Park Project 

 

Dear Mr. Downes: 

 

Attached is the letter of recommendation on the Wald Park Initial Site Package for the City of 

Vestavia Hills from Williams Blackstock Architects.  We have reviewed the bid and concur 

with the architect.  It is our recommendation that the City of Vestavia Hills proceed with 

contract award to Forestry Environmental for the Base Bid. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
 

W. Ken Upchurch, III 

Principal 

 

 



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Exhibit - Resolution No. 5085

Exh
ibi

t R
es

. 5
08

5



Resolution Number 5088 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5088 
 

AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING AN INCREASE 
IN SALARY AND WAGES FOR EMPLOYEES 

 
 THIS RESOLUTION WAS ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA ON SEPTEMBER 

10, 2018. 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared budgets for the said fiscal year 2018-

2019 for a three-percent (3%) across-the-board increase of wages and salaries for all 

employees; and 

 WHEREAS, the Council, at its regularly scheduled meeting of September 10, 

2018, voted to approve a three-percent (3%) across-the-board increase in wages and 

salaries for all employees. 

 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Council hereby approves a three-percent (3%) across-the-board 

increase in wages and salaries for all employees; and 

2. Said increase is effective October 1, 2018. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 10th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



RESOLUTION NUMBER 5089 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING FINANCING TERMS FOR CITY 
VEHICLES THROUGH REGIONS EQUIPMENT FINANCE 
CORPORATION 

 
 WHEREAS, The City of Vestavia Hills (“Governmental Entity”) has previously 

determined to undertake a project for the purchase of various vehicles & equipment (the “Project”) 

and the Officer of the Governmental Entity responsible for financial affairs of the Governmental 

Entity (the “Finance Officer”) has now presented a proposal for the financing of such Project. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Governmental Entity hereby determines to finance the Project through Regions 

Equipment Finance Corporation (“Regions”), in accordance with the proposals obtained 

by the Finance Officer as detailed in Exhibit A attached to and incorporated into this 

Resolution Number 5089 as though written fully therein; and 

2. All financing contracts and all related documents for the closing of the financing (the 

“Financing Documents”) shall be consistent with the foregoing terms.  All officers and 

employees of the Governmental Entity are hereby authorized and directed to execute and 

deliver any Financing Documents, and to take all such further action as they may consider 

necessary or desirable to carry out the financing of the Project as contemplated by the 

proposal and this resolution.  The Financing Documents shall include a Financing 

Agreement and a Project Fund Agreement as Regions may request. 

3. The Finance Officer is hereby authorized and directed to hold executed copies of the 

Financing Documents until the conditions for the delivery of the Financing Documents 

have been completed to such officer’s satisfaction. The Finance Officer is authorized to 

approve changes to any Financing Documents previously signed by Governmental Entity 

officers or employees, provided that such changes shall not substantially alter the intent of 

such documents or certificates from the intent expressed in the forms executed by such 

officers. The Financing Documents shall be in such final forms as the Finance Officer shall 

approve, with the Finance Officer’s release of any Financing Document for delivery 

constituting conclusive evidence of such officer’s final approval of the document’s final 

form. 



4. The Governmental Entity shall not take or omit to take any action the taking or omission 

of which shall cause its interest payments on this financing to be includable in the gross 

income for federal income tax purposes of the registered owners of the interest payment 

obligations under the Financing Documents. The Governmental Entity hereby designates 

its obligations to make principal and interest payments under the Financing Documents as 

“qualified tax-exempt obligations” for the purpose of Internal Revenue Code Section 

265(b)(3). 

5. The Governmental Entity intends that the adoption of this resolution will be a declaration 

of the Governmental Entity’s official intent to reimburse expenditures for the Project that 

is to be financed from the proceeds of the Regions financing described above. The 

Governmental Entity intends that funds that have been advanced, or that may be advanced, 

from the Governmental Entity’s general fund, or any other Governmental Entity fund 

related to the Project, for Project costs may be reimbursed from the financing proceeds. 

6. The officers of the Governmental Entity and any person or persons designated and 

authorized by any officer of the Governmental Entity to act in the name and on behalf of 

the Governmental Entity, or any one or more of them, are authorized to do and perform or 

cause to be done and performed in the name and on behalf of the Governmental Entity such 

other acts, to pay or cause to be paid on behalf of the Governmental Entity such related 

costs and expenses, and to execute and deliver or cause to be executed and delivered in the 

name and on behalf of the Governmental Entity such other notices, requests, demands, 

directions, consents, approvals, orders, applications, certificates, agreements, further 

assurances, or other instruments or communications, under the corporate seal of the 

Governmental Entity, or otherwise, as they or any of them may deem necessary, advisable, 

or appropriate in order to (a) complete the plan of financing contemplated by the Financing 

Documents, (b) carry into effect the intent of the provisions of this resolution and the 

Financing Documents, and (c) demonstrate the validity of the Financing Documents, the 

absence of any pending or threatened litigation with respect to the Financing Documents 

and the plan of financing contemplated by the Financing Documents, and the exemption of 

interest on the interest payment obligations under the Financing Documents from federal 

and State of Alabama income taxation. 



7. All prior actions of Governmental Entity officers in furtherance of the purposes of this 

resolution are hereby ratified, approved and confirmed. All other resolutions (or parts 

thereof) in conflict with this resolution are hereby repealed, to the extent of the conflict. 

This resolution shall take effect immediately. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 10th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
SEAL 
 
 



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 V

E
S

T
A

V
IA

 H
IL

L
S

V
E

H
IC

L
E

S
 a

n
d

 H
E

A
V

Y
 E

Q
U

IP
M

E
N

T
"L

E
A

S
E

/P
U

R
C

H
A

S
E

 P
R

O
P

O
S

A
LS

"
F

IS
C

A
L

 2
0

1
8

-2
0

1
9

Ba
nk

 N
o.

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
De

sc
rip

tio
n

Lo
an

 A
m

ou
nt

Te
rm

s
BB

&
T 

Ba
nk

BB
VA

 C
om

pa
ss

Ba
nc

or
p 

So
ut

h
Br

ya
nt

 B
an

k
Ca

de
nc

e 
Ba

nk
Ha

nc
oc

k 
Ba

nk
N

at
io

na
l B

k 
of

 C
om

m
er

ce
Ve

hi
cl

es
$4

30
,0

00
Ra

te
s -

 3
 y

rs
2.

97
%

3.
80

%
3.

54
%

3.
02

%
3.

72
%

3.
29

%
3.

71
%

He
av

y 
Ve

hi
cl

es
 &

 E
qu

ip
m

en
t

$5
5,

00
0

Ra
te

s -
 5

 y
rs

3.
16

%
5.

28
%

3.
74

%
3.

10
%

3.
86

%
3.

50
%

3.
78

%
He

av
y 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t
$2

62
,2

20
Ra

te
s -

 7
 y

rs
3.

29
%

3.
46

%
n/

a
n/

a
3.

99
%

3.
64

%
3.

86
%

TO
TA

L 
LE

AS
E/

LO
AN

 A
M

O
U

N
T

$7
47

,2
20

6 
yr

s  
   

   
   

   
 3

.8
4%

Co
m

bi
ne

d 
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 T
ot

al
9.

42
%

12
.5

4%
11

.5
7%

10
.4

3%
11

.3
5%

Ra
nk

in
gs

3
10

no
 ra

nk
in

g
no

 ra
nk

in
g

9
7

8

Ba
nk

 N
o.

8
9

10
11

12
De

sc
rip

tio
n

Lo
an

 A
m

ou
nt

Te
rm

s
Re

gi
on

s B
an

k
Si

gn
at

ur
e 

Pu
bl

ic
 F

un
di

ng
So

ut
hP

oi
nt

 B
an

k
Su

nT
ru

st
 L

ea
si

ng
Tr

us
tm

ar
k 

N
at

io
na

l B
k

Ve
hi

cl
es

$4
30

,0
00

Ra
te

s -
 3

 y
rs

2.
82

%
3.

06
%

3.
19

%
2.

96
%

3.
20

%
He

av
y/

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

 V
eh

ic
le

s
$5

5,
00

0
Ra

te
s -

 5
 y

rs
2.

94
%

3.
17

%
3.

38
%

3.
08

%
3.

40
%

He
av

y 
Eq

ui
pm

en
t

$2
62

,2
20

Ra
te

s -
 7

 y
rs

3.
03

%
3.

24
%

3.
56

%
3.

16
%

3.
55

%
TO

TA
L 

LE
AS

E/
LO

AN
 A

M
O

U
N

T
$7

47
,2

20
Co

m
bi

ne
d 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 T

ot
al

8.
79

%
9.

47
%

10
.1

3%
9.

19
%

10
.1

5%
Ra

nk
in

gs
1

4
5

2
6

Fi
na

nc
ia

l I
ns

tit
ut

io
ns

/B
an

ks
 

Di
dn

't 
 S

ub
m

it 
Pr

op
os

al
s: 13

Fi
rs

t U
S 

Ba
nk

Re
gi

on
s B

an
k

1
8.

79
%

14
IB

ER
IA

 B
an

k
Su

nT
ru

st
 L

ea
si

ng
2

9.
19

%
BB

&
T 

Ba
nk

3
9.

42
%

Si
gn

at
ur

e 
Pu

bl
ic

 F
un

di
ng

4
9.

47
%

So
ut

hP
oi

nt
 B

an
k

5
10

.1
3%

Tr
us

tm
ar

k 
N

at
io

na
l B

k
6

10
.1

5%
Ha

nc
oc

k 
Ba

nk
7

10
.4

3%
N

at
io

na
l B

k 
of

 C
om

m
er

ce
8

11
.3

5%
Ca

de
nc

e 
Ba

nk
9

11
.5

7%
BB

VA
 C

om
pa

ss
10

12
.5

4%
Ba

nc
or

p 
So

ut
h

no
 ra

nk
in

g
n/

a
Br

ya
nt

 B
an

k
no

 ra
nk

in
g

n/
a

PR
O

PO
SA

LS
RA

TE
 R

AN
KI

N
GS

FI
SC

AL
 Y

EA
R 

20
18

-2
01

9

B
kP

ro
p

o
sa

l-Q
u

o
te

s-
L

e
a

se
s2

0
1

9

E
xh

ib
it 

A
 -

 R
es

ol
ut

io
n 

N
o.

 5
08

9



Resolution Number 5090 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5090 
 

A RESOLUTION TO INITIATE THE SECOND AMENDMENT TO 
THE PATCHWORK PUD 

 
WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, on February 23, 2009, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2253 to rezone the property formerly 

known as Patchwork Farms consisting of 87 +/- acres from various zoning classifications 

to Planned Unit Development pursuant to a PUD plan submitted by the City of Vestavia 

Hills and the City of Vestavia Hills Board of Education as owners; and 

 WHEREAS, on September 22, 2014, the City Council adopted and approved 

Ordinance Number 2532 to adopt the First Amendment to the Patchwork Farm Planned 

Unit Development in order to change the classifications of 22 +/- acres owned by the Board 

of Education and to increase the maximum attached residency to be located within any PB 

district from 100 units to 270 units; and 

 WHEREAS, applications have been filed by various property owners which 

warrants a Second Amendment to the Patchwork Farms Planned Unit Development 

including, but not limited to the following; 

 Reducing the PUD detached single-family density from 5 units to zero, rezoning 

the existing five (5) single-family units from Vestavia Hills PR-1 to Vestavia Hills 

R-1 and withdrawing said units from the Patchwork Farms Planned Unit 

Development; and 

 Increasing the maximum density of attached residential units located within the PB 

districts from 270 to 305 with the additional 30 units to be located on Lot 5A and/or 

Lot 5C, according to the Survey of the Patchwork Farms Resurvey of Lot 5, 

recorded in MB 241, MP 37 in the Office of the Judge of Probate, Jefferson 

County, Alabama, and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council agree it would be in the best public 

interest to initiate the Second Amendment to the Patchwork Farms Planned Unit 

Development (“the Amendment”), a copy of which is marked as Exhibit A, attached to and 

incorporated into this Resolution Number 5090 as though written fully therein; and 



Resolution Number 5090 
Page 2 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the City Clerk initiate the process for the Amendment pursuant to the 

Vestavia Hills Zoning Code. 

APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 10th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 















































Resolution Number 5091 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5091 
 
 A RESOLUTION DETERMINING THAT CERTAIN 

PERSONAL PROPERTY IS NOT NEEDED FOR 
PUBLIC OR MUNICIPAL PURPOSES AND 
DIRECTING THE SALE/DISPOSAL OF SAID 
SURPLUS PROPERTY 

 
WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, is the owner of personal property 

detailed in the attached “Exhibit A”; and 

 WHEREAS, the City has determined that it would be in the best public interest to 

sell or dispose of said property. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to sell or dispose of the above-

referenced surplus personal property; and 

2. This Resolution Number 5091 shall become effective immediately upon 

adoption and approval. 

DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED on this the 10th day of 

September, 2018. 

 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 



 
 

VESTAVIA HILLS FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Jeff Downes, City Manager 
 
FROM:  Marvin Green, Fire Chief 
 
DATE:  August 23, 2018 
 
RE:  Surplus Equipment 
 
 
The Fire Department has purchased new self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) which has 
created equipment for disposal. I recommend the 45 SCBA and 98 bottles be deemed as surplus and 
donated to the Terry Ferrell Fund. The units have little value due to the short service life remaining. 
 
Also, we have a 2000 Ford F-350 Wheeled Coach Ambulance, VIN 1FDWF36F4YEA44518 with 
141,146 miles. The vehicle has exceeded its useful service life and is not suitable for remounting. I 
recommend it be sold as surplus. 
 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5091



1

Rebecca Leavings

From: Brian Davis
Sent: Thursday, August 30, 2018 2:44 PM
To: Rebecca Leavings; Jason Burnett
Subject: surplus

Becky, we need to declare this miscellaneous property below as surplus so we can put it on gov deals.  There are no 
asset numbers but Finance needs to document it from the council.  Also a tractor with an asset number is below the 
pool equipment.  It doesn’t run.   
 
Lounge reclining chairs 
Lounge chairs 
Basketball goals 
Lifeguard stands 
Umbrella stands and umbrellas 
Diving board 
Starting blocks 
 
John Deere 750 Tractor – asset number 13236 
 
Can we get this on the council agenda at the next possible chance?  Thanks. 
 

“When a train goes through a tunnel and it gets dark, you don’t throw away the ticket and jump off.  You sit 
still and trust the engineer.” 
Corrie ten Boom 

 
 
Brian C. Davis, Director 
Department of Public Services 
1032 Montgomery Highway 
Vestavia Hills, AL 35216 
P 205 978 0150 | vhal.org 

   
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5091



Ordinance Number 2789 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2789 
 
 ANNEXING CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA 
HILLS, ALABAMA. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, on the 30th day of May, 2018, a petition was presented to the City 

Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, proposing the annexation of certain 

property to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, under the provisions of Act 32 of the 

Special Session on the Alabama Legislature of 1964; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, at the time and place 

of its regular meeting on said date, made a determination that the matters contained in the 

Petition were true and that it was in the public interest that said property be annexed to the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the following property which was described in said petition be annexed to 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

2441 Jannebo Road 
Lot 116, Buckhead, 4th Sector 

Richard and Samantha Wheeler, Owner(s) 
 
 2.  That this Annexation shall become effective upon the adoption and approval of 

this Ordinance in accordance with the provisions of law, after which the heretofore 

described property shall become a part of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 3.  That the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to publish this Ordinance in 

accordance with the requirements of the law and to file a copy hereof, together with a duly 

certified copy of the petition, with the Probate Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama. 



Ordinance Number 2789 
Page 2 

 

 ADOPTING and APPROVED this the 24th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2789 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 24th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ 
day of ______________, 2018. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2789 
Page 3 

 

 



ANNEXATION DETAIL SHEET 
 
 
Address:  2441 Jannebo Road 
 
Parcel ID#:  28-00-32-3-002-034.000 
 
Owner(s):  Richard and Samatha Wheeler 
 
Current Use:  One Single-Family home 
 
Proposed Use: same 
 
Google Image:  
 

 
 
 



















Ordinance Number 2790 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2790 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY JEFFERSON COUNTY E-2 
TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-1 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Jefferson County E-2 (estate single 

family district) to Vestavia Hills R-1 (low density residential district):  

2441 Jannebo Road 
Lot 116, Buckhead, 4th Sector 

Richard and Samantha Wheeler, Owner(s) 
 

APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 24th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2790 
Page 2 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2790 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 24th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New Merkle 
House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2018. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2790 
Page 3 

 
 

 



1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     JULY 12, 2018

CASE: P-0718-23

REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-1

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 2401 Jannebo Rd.

APPLICANT/OWNER: Richard & Samantha Wheeler

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Property was annexed overnight by City Council on 
5/30/18 with the passage of Ordinance 2760. Applicant is requesting the compatible 
rezoning.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

MOTION Mr. Gilchrist made a motion to recommend rezoning approval for 2401 Jannebo 
Rd. from Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-1. Second was by Mr. Weaver. Motion was 
carried on a roll call; vote as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Sykes – yes
Mr. Gilchrist – yes Mrs. Barnes – yes
Mr. House – yes Mr. Weaver – yes 
Mr. Larson – yes Motion carried.







Ordinance Number 2791 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2791 
 
 ANNEXING CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA 
HILLS, ALABAMA. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, on the 30th day of May, 2018, a petition was presented to the City 

Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, proposing the annexation of certain 

property to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, under the provisions of Act 32 of the 

Special Session on the Alabama Legislature of 1964; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, at the time and place 

of its regular meeting on said date, made a determination that the matters contained in the 

Petition were true and that it was in the public interest that said property be annexed to the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the following property which was described in said petition be annexed to 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

3332 Misty Lane 
Jacob and Marjorie Pollard, Owner(s) 

 
More particularly described as follows: 
 

The South ½ of the SE ¼ of Section 20, Township 18, Range 2 West, 
Described as follows:  Begin 210 Feet East of the SW corner of said ½ of 
¼; thence North 210 feet for a point of beginning, thence North 210 feet; 
thence East 210 feet; thence South 210 feet; thence West 210 feet to the 
point of beginning. 

 
 



Ordinance Number 2791 
Page 2 

 

 2.  That this Annexation shall become effective upon the adoption and approval of 

this Ordinance in accordance with the provisions of law, after which the heretofore 

described property shall become a part of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 3.  That the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to publish this Ordinance in 

accordance with the requirements of the law and to file a copy hereof, together with a duly 

certified copy of the petition, with the Probate Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama. 

 ADOPTING and APPROVED this the 24th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2791 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 24th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ 
day of ______________, 2018. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 



Ordinance Number 2791 
Page 3 

 

 



ANNEXATION DETAIL SHEET 
 
 
Address:  3332 Misty Lane 
 
Parcel ID#:  28-00-20-4-002-008.001 
 
Owner(s):  Jacob and Marjorie Pollard 
 
Current Use:  Vacant Property 
 
Proposed Use: Construct one single-family residence (approx. 4,000 SF) 
 
Google Image:  
 

 
 
 

Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



M.B. & J.L. Pollard 
2627 Fargo Circle 

Vestavia Hills, AL 35226 
 

 

Planning and Zoning Committee Members, 

 

 My name is Jacob Pollard, my wife Marjorie and I currently live in Vestavia.  We moved 
from Helena to Vestavia in 2013 after our daughter was born in 2012.  Since then we have never 
given a second thought to living anywhere else.  The community, public services, school system, 
and our friends and neighbors are the reason we have been able to set our roots here.   

We now have three children; Colette, Graham, and Asher.  Our daughter, Colette, is in 
5K this year at VHEW.  As our family has grown, we quickly realized that we need more space 
and began the search for land on which to build a home.  We have recently closed on one acre 
located at 3332 Misty Lane, in Jefferson County.   

 We have had house plans drawn, and have septic approval from Jefferson County.  
Documents for both are enclosed with our Petition for annexation. 

We are Vestavians.  We love our land, and envision raising our children in Vestavia 
where our family can enjoy the outdoors and all the amenities that the City of Vestavia has to 
offer. 

 Thank you for your time in reviewing this request. 

 

 

 

 

Sincerely, 

Jacob and Marjorie Pollard 

 

 

Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Exhibits - 3332 Misty Lane



Ordinance Number 2790 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2792 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY JEFFERSON COUNTY E-2 
TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-1 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Jefferson County E-2 (estate single 

family district) to Vestavia Hills R-1 (low density residential district):  

3332 Misty Lane 
Jacob and Marjorie Pollard, Owner(s) 

 
More particularly described as follows: 
 

The South ½ of the SE ¼ of Section 20, Township 18, Range 2 West, 
Described as follows:  Begin 210 Feet East of the SW corner of said ½ of 
¼; thence North 210 feet for a point of beginning, thence North 210 feet; 
thence East 210 feet; thence South 210 feet; thence West 210 feet to the 
point of beginning. 

 
 

APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 24th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2790 
Page 2 

 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2792 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 24th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New Merkle 
House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2018. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2790 
Page 3 

 



1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     JULY 12, 2018

CASE: P-0718-24

REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-1

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 3332 Misty Ln.

APPLICANT/OWNER: Jacob & Marjorie Pollard

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Property was annexed overnight by City Council on 
5/30/18 with the passage of Ordinance 2759. Applicant is requesting the compatible 
rezoning.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

MOTION Mr. Gilchrist made a motion to recommend rezoning approval for 3332 Misty Ln. 
from Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-1. Second was by Mr. Weaver. Motion was 
carried on a roll call; vote as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Sykes – yes
Mr. Gilchrist – yes Mrs. Barnes – yes
Mr. House – yes Mr. Weaver – yes 
Mr. Larson – yes Motion carried.









Ordinance Number 2793 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2793 
 
 ANNEXING CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA 
HILLS, ALABAMA. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, on the 30th day of May, 2018, a petition was presented to the City 

Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, proposing the annexation of certain 

property to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, under the provisions of Act 32 of the 

Special Session on the Alabama Legislature of 1964; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, at the time and place 

of its regular meeting on said date, made a determination that the matters contained in the 

Petition were true and that it was in the public interest that said property be annexed to the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the following property which was described in said petition be annexed to 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

2764 Altadena Lake Drive 
Lot 4, Block 5, First Add., Altadena Valley, 4th Sector 

Murray and Kelly Statham, Owner(s) 
 
 2.  That this Annexation shall become effective upon the adoption and approval of 

this Ordinance in accordance with the provisions of law, after which the heretofore 

described property shall become a part of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 3.  That the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to publish this Ordinance in 

accordance with the requirements of the law and to file a copy hereof, together with a duly 

certified copy of the petition, with the Probate Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama. 



Ordinance Number 2793 
Page 2 

 

 ADOPTING and APPROVED this the 24th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2793 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 24th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ 
day of ______________, 2018. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2793 
Page 3 

 

 



ANNEXATION DETAIL SHEET 
 
 
Address:  2764 Altadena Lake Drive 
 
Parcel ID#:  28-00-34-3-007-010.000 
 
Owner(s):  Murray & Kelly Statham 
 
Current Use:  One Single-Family home 
 
Proposed Use: same 
 
Google Image:  
 

 
 
 

Exhibit - 2764 Altadena Lake Drive



Exhibit - 2764 Altadena Lake Drive



Exhibit - 2764 Altadena Lake Drive



Exhibit - 2764 Altadena Lake Drive



Exhibit - 2764 Altadena Lake Drive



Exhibit - 2764 Altadena Lake Drive



Exhibit - 2764 Altadena Lake Drive



Exhibit - 2764 Altadena Lake Drive



Exhibit - 2764 Altadena Lake Drive



Ordinance Number 2794 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2794 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY JEFFERSON COUNTY R-1 
TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-2 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Jefferson County R-1 (medium 

density single family district) to Vestavia Hills R-2 (medium density residential district):  

2764 Altadena Lake Drive 
Lot 4, Block 5, Altadena Valley, 4th Sector 

Murray and Kelly Statham, Owner(s) 
 
 

APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 24th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2794 
Page 2 

 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2794 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 24th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New Merkle 
House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2018. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2794 
Page 3 

 
 

 
 



1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     JULY 12, 2018

CASE: P-0718-26

REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Jefferson County R-1 to Vestavia Hills R-2

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 2764 Altadena Lake Dr.

APPLICANT/OWNER: Murray & Kelly Statham

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Property was annexed overnight by City Council on 
5/30/18 with the passage of Ordinance 2761. Applicant is requesting the compatible 
rezoning.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

MOTION Mr. Gilchrist made a motion to recommend rezoning approval for 2764 Altadena 
Lake Dr. from Jefferson County R-1 to Vestavia Hills R-2. Second was by Mr. Weaver. Motion 
was carried on a roll call; vote as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Sykes – yes
Mr. Gilchrist – yes Mrs. Barnes – yes
Mr. House – yes Mr. Weaver – yes 
Mr. Larson – yes Motion carried.







Ordinance Number 2795 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2795 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY JEFFERSON COUNTY E-2 
TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-1 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Jefferson County E-2 (low density 

single family district) to Vestavia Hills R-1 (low density residential district):  

2401 Mountain Vista Drive 
Lot 45, Altadena Brook, 2nd Sector 

Paul Phillips, Owner(s) 
 
 

APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 24th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2795 
Page 2 

 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2795 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 24th day of September, 2018, as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New Merkle 
House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2018. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2795 
Page 3 

 



1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     AUGUST 9, 2018

CASE: P-0818-29

REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-1

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 2401 Mountain Vista Dr.

APPLICANT/OWNER: Paul Phillips

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Property was annexed by the City in the 1990’s but 
never rezoned. This is a compatible rezoning/clean-up.

VESTAVIA HILLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: This request is consistent with
the plan for medium density residential.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

MOTION Mr. Weaver made a motion to recommend rezoning approval for 2401 Mountain 
Vista Dr. from Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-1. Second was by Mr. House. Motion 
was carried on a roll call; vote as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Sykes – yes
Mrs. Cobb – yes Mr. Larson – yes
Mr. Romeo – yes Mr. Weaver – yes 



2

Mr. House – yes Mrs. Barnes – yes 
Motion carried.









Resolution Number 5092 
Page 1 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5092 
 

 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE DEDICATION OF THE STREET 
KNOWN AS ANNA STEELE LANE 

 
 WHEREAS, Harris Doyle Homes is the developer for Steelemont Estates Subdivision, 

Phase II in Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  This dedication consists of the street named “Anna Steele 

Lane”; such dedication not to include any improvements other than the streets named in this 

Resolution. 

 WHEREAS, the streets were built according to the Vestavia Hills specifications and the 

development company is presenting them to the City of Vestavia Hills for acceptance complete 

with a guarantee against any defects for a period of one (1) year from date of dedication. 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, that the City hereby accepts the offer of dedication made 

by Harris Doyle Homes for Anna Steele Lane and is hereby named a public street. 

 ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 24th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 

      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor  

ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5092



CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICES 

OFFICE OF CITY ENGINEER 
INTER-DEPARTMENT MEMO 

 
 
August 31, 2018 
 
To: Jeff Downes, City Manager 
 
Cc: Brian Davis, Director of Public Services 
 
From: Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
 
RE: Dedication of Anna Steele Lane as Public Street 
 

 

The Developer has formally requested dedication of Anna Steele Lane to the City of Vestavia 
Hills for all public improvements within the platted right-of-way.  Upon final inspection, I have 
found all improvements to be complete and in compliance with City standards for public streets 
and support its dedication to the City for roadway maintenance.  This dedication will include 50’ 
of public right-of-way.   

A Final Wearing Surface Maintenance Bond in the amount of $5,945 is required to be kept on 
file with the City for a full year after the roadway improvements have been accepted by the City 
Council to ensure all improvements are kept in good repair.  

 

Reply 

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5092



Resolution Number 5093 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5093 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE 
AND DELIVER PROPOSALS FOR SURVEY AND CIVIL ENGINEERING 
SERVICES FOR THE FOLLOWING SIDEWALK PROJECTS:  EAST 
STREET IMPROVEMENTS; CAHABA HEIGHTS ROAD SIDEWALK 
IMPROVEMENTS; MOUNTAINVIEW DRIVE SIDEWALK 
IMPROVEMENTS; AND ROCKY RIDGE ROAD SIDEWALK 
IMPROVEMENTS 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council is desirous of sidewalk improvements in the City of 

Vestavia Hills pursuant to the City’s Master Sidewalk Plan; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Engineer has received proposals for design, survey and civil 

engineering services for the following four (4) sidewalk improvement projects: 

 East Street Improvements;  

 Cahaba Heights Road Sidewalk Improvements; 

  Mountainview Drive Sidewalk Improvements; And  

 Rocky Ridge Road Sidewalk Improvements; and 

WHEREAS, said proposals are marked as Exhibits A, B, C and D respectively and are 

attached and incorporated into this Resolution Number 5093 as if written fully therein; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to accept said 

proposals and begin said professional services as detailed in Exhibits A, B, C, and D. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute the agreements detailed in Exhibits A, 

B, C and D attached; and 

2. This Resolution Number 5093 is effective immediately upon adoption and approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 24th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
 
 
 



Resolution Number 5093 
Page 2 

 

 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit C - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit C - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit C - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit C - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit C - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit C - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit C - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit C - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit C - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit C - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit D - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit D - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit D - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit D - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit D - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit D - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit D - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit D - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit D - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit D - Resolution No. 5093



Exhibit D - Resolution No. 5093























Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 1

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2796 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A NON-EXCLUSIVE RIGHT-OF-WAY 
USE AGREEMENT TO MCIMETRO ACCESS TRANSMISSION 
SERVICES CORP. D/B/A VERIZON ACCESS TRANSMISSION 
SERVICES FOR THE PURPOSE OF CONDUCTING BUSINESS AS A 
COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES PROVIDER WITHIN CERTAIN PUBLIC 
RIGHTS-OF-WAY WITHIN THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA 

 
THIS FRANCHISE AGREEMENT effective as of _________________, 2018, by and 

between the CITY of VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, a municipal corporation, (hereinafter 

referred to as the “City”) and MCImetro Access Transmission Services Corp. d/b/a Verizon 

Access Transmission Services, a Delaware corporation, whose address is One Verizon Way, 

Basking Ridge, NJ  07920 (hereinafter referred to as the “Franchisee”). 

WHEREAS the City has and reserves the right to exercise control over the highways, 

streets, alleys and public places and to require City’s consent prior to using such highways, streets, 

alleys and public places; and  

WHEREAS State law, confers to the City certain rights and requirements for franchises 

and permission to use the public ways of City; and 

WHEREAS the Franchisee has requested from City a franchise to use the streets and 

public ways of the City to conduct business as a communications services provider; and 

WHEREAS the City and the Franchisee have negotiated this Franchise Agreement which 

is mutually agreeable to both parties. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and 

intending to be legally bound thereby, the City and Franchisee enter into this Franchise Agreement 

and agree as follows: 

SECTION 1.  GRANT OF NON-EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE.  A non-exclusive franchise is 

hereby granted to Franchisee, subject to the City’s receipt of monetary compensation, to construct, 

maintain and operate in, over, under, across and through the public rights-of-way of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a fiber-based communications system within the City of Vestavia Hills and 

any future additions thereto, the duration of such franchise to be a period of fifteen (15) years, to 

commence on the _____ day of 2018.  The grant of this non-exclusive franchise is for the use by the 

Franchisee for the purpose of providing telecommunication and communications services, including dark 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 2

fiber, within the City of Vestavia Hills as a "competitive access provider" which directly connects 

customers within the franchise area with other businesses, local area networks, a local exchange carrier 

and interexchange carriers and for such other services, including local exchange and enhanced services, 

as may be authorized by the Alabama Public Service Commission or federal law, other than cable services 

as defined below.  Franchisee shall not provide services directly regulated by the Alabama Public Service 

Commission (PSC) unless authorized by the PSC.  Franchisee is permitted to operate a 

telecommunications system as defined by the Telecommunications Act of 1996.  Franchisee shall 

not operate a cable system as defined in the Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984 (47 USCA 

§521 et seq., as amended) without first having obtained a separate cable franchise with the City. 

The term of this agreement shall be renewed automatically for three (3) successive terms of five (5) 

years each on the same terms and conditions set forth herein, provided that Franchisee shall have performed 

according to the terms hereof, and, further provided that statutory authority shall exist for the City of 

Vestavia Hills to renew this franchise.  New terms and conditions may be required by either party for 

renewal if the telecommunications and broadband technology and rights-of-way laws change after the date 

of this franchise ordinance and cause substantial effects on service types, availability, character of 

service, system technology or the regulatory environment.  New terms, provisions, or conditions may 

also be required by either party upon renewal which are applicable generally to other franchisees for 

similar services or applicable generally to the industry to clarify the intent of this franchise, which may arise from 

any unforeseen circumstances or interpretations of this franchise, and/or which are based on the history of 

performance of the Franchisee.  The parties agree to negotiate new terms and conditions in good 

faith. 

When used herein, the term "facilities" shall mean all or any part of a network of fiber optic cables and 

all related property, including but not limited to, conduit, carrier pipe, fiber optic cables, poles, handholes, 

manholes, repeaters, power sources, and other attachments and appurtenances necessary for the fiber-based 

communications system and located within the City's rights of way. 

SECTION 2.  GENERAL TERMS.  Franchisee, for the duration of this franchise and for the 

purposes hereinabove expressed, shall have the privilege to construct, operate and maintain facilities and to 

make any and all necessary excavations therefore, in, over, under, across and through all or any of the 

portions of the streets, alleys, avenues or public ways of the City of Vestavia Hills, to utilize defined existing City 

owned conduit within the public rights-of-way as may be specifically approved in writing by the City 

Engineering Department and to utilize, with permission of the affected utility companies, their facilities 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 3

within public rights-of-way for the purpose of providing a fiber-based communications system within the 

City of Vestavia Hills, to be exercised in such manner only, however, as to offer the least interference with 

the public use of said streets, alleys, avenues and public ways; and Franchisee shall be subject to and shall comply 

with all laws and ordinances of the City of Vestavia Hills and shall be further subject to and shall comply with all 

rules, regulations and other restrictions of the City of Vestavia Hills set forth herein.  The granting of this 

franchise shall not prohibit the City from granting other non-exclusive franchises or otherwise allowing or making 

other uses of the City's rights-of-way.  The granting of this franchise shall in no way interfere with or hinder the use 

by the City of the rights-of-way for any purpose. 

SECTION 3.  SCOPE OF FRANCHISE.  The franchise hereby granted shall extend to and include 

all portions of streets, alleys, avenues and other public ways that conform to the General Terms set forth in Section 2, 

above, as may be necessary to carry out the purpose of this franchise. 

SECTION 4.  INDEMNIFICATION.  Franchisee hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and 

hold harmless the City, its Mayor and Council, appointed boards and commissions, officials, officers, 

employees and insurance carriers, individually and collectively from all losses, claims, suits, judgments, 

demands, expenses, subrogation, attorney's fees, costs or actions of any kind and nature resulting from 

personal injury to any person, including employees of Franchisee or of any contractor or 

subcontractor employed by Franchisee, (including bodily injury and death) or damages to any property, 

arising out of the acts or omissions of Franchisee, its contractors, subcontractors, officers, agents and 

employees while exercising any of the rights or privileges granted by this franchise.  The amount and type of 

insurance coverage requirements set forth herein will in no way be construed as limiting the scope of indemnity 

in this paragraph.  The terms and provisions of this section are intended to be for the benefit of the City 

and Franchisee and are not intended to be for the benefit of any third party.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, Franchisee shall not be obligated to indemnify the City for Claims resulting solely from 

the negligent or willful acts of the City or its representatives. 

SECTION 5.  CITY TAKING PART IN LITIGATION.  The Franchisee shall immediately 

notify the City of any litigation which would affect the franchise.  The City shall have the right to take part, 

by intervention or otherwise at its option and at its sole cost, in any suit, action, or proceeding instituted by or 

against Franchisee in which any judgment, decree, or order can be rendered affecting the rights, powers or 

duties of Franchisee to do or not to do anything which, by its franchise, it is obligated or may be required to do 

or not to do or affecting, such as by foreclosure or lien, Franchisee's title to any facility.  Franchisee shall not 

object to the City's exercise of such right.  



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 4

SECTION 6.  BOND, CERTIFICATE OF DEPOSIT OR LETTER OF CREDIT.  

Franchisee shall obtain and maintain, or cause to be obtained and maintained, during the entire term of the franchise 

and any extensions and renewals thereof, at its cost and expense, and file with the City Clerk a corporate surety 

bond, certificate(s) of deposit assigned to the City or irrevocable, unconditional letter of credit in the 

amount of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000), both to guarantee the timely construction and full activation 

of Franchisee's system and to secure the faithful performance of Franchisee of all its obligations provided 

under the franchise.  Failure to timely obtain, file, assign and/or maintain said bond, certificate(s) of deposit 

or letter of credit at all times at the required amount shall constitute a substantial violation of this 

Agreement.  If Franchisee elects to deposit and assign for the benefit of the City a certificate(s) of deposit, any 

interest earned on the principal sum required shall inure to the benefit of the Franchisee and any tax liability on 

said interest will inure to the Franchisee. 

The performance bond shall provide and certificate(s) of deposit and letter of credit shall be 

subject to the following conditions: 

(1) There shall be recoverable by the City, jointly and severally from the principal and 

surety, or from the certificate(s) of deposit or letter of credit, any and all fines and penalties due to 

the City and any and all damages, losses, costs, and expenses suffered, incurred by or resulting from failure of 

Franchisee to: faithfully comply with the provisions of the franchise; comply with all applicable 

orders, permits and directives of any City agency or body having jurisdiction over its acts or 

defaults; pay any claims, liens or taxes due to the City which arises from or by reason of the construction, 

operation, maintenance or repair of the communications system. 

(2) The total amount of the bond, certificate(s) of deposit or letter of credit shall be forfeited in 

favor of the City in the event: 

(a) Franchisee abandons its system at any time during the term of the franchise or 

extension thereof or ceases operation of the system for a period in excess of six (6) 

months; and/or 

(b) Franchisee assigns the franchise without the express written consent of the 

City, if such consent is required by the terms of this franchise, which consent 

shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

The performance bond, certificate(s) of deposit or letter of credit required herein shall be in a form 

satisfactory to the City Attorney.  The surety bond, certificate(s) of deposit or letter of credit shall at all times be 

maintained at the amount and levels as required in this section and shall be a continuing obligation for the 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 5

duration of the franchise and thereafter until the Franchisee has liquidated all of its obligations with the City that 

may have arisen by reason of the construction, operation or maintenance of the system or breach or termination 

of the franchise.  If the bond, certificate(s) of deposit or letter of credit is drawn-down for any reason, the bond, 

certificate(s) of deposit or letter of credit shall be renewed to the amounts required by the city. 

The City shall notify the Franchisee in writing and allow Franchisee thirty (30) days to cure, unless 

such time to cure is extended by the City Attorney, before calling the surety bond or drawing upon the certificate 

of deposit or letter of credit. 

SECTION 7. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS.  Franchisee shall maintain in full force 

and effect, for the full term of the franchise, at its own cost and expense, a commercial general 

liability insurance policy in the amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property 

damage  and $3,000,000 general aggregate.  In addition, Franchisee shall obtain worker’s 

compensation coverage as required by the laws of the State of Alabama.  The City shall be included 

as an additional insured as their interest may appear under this Agreement on the commercial 

general liability insurance, and Franchisee shall provide the City with a Certificate of Insurance 

evidencing the City as an additional insured on the commercial general liability policy and 

extension or renewal thereof.  Upon receipt of notice from its insurer(s) Franchisee shall provide 

the City with thirty (30) days’ prior written notice of such cancellation. 

SECTION 8.  NON-ASSIGNMENT. 

(a) The rights granted by this franchise or any interest therein shall not be assigned or 

transferred to any other unrelated entity without the express written consent of the Mayor and Council.  A written 

copy of any such proposed assignment must be filed with the City.  Any required consent is to be evidenced by 

an ordinance or resolution of the Council that fully recites the terms and conditions, if any, upon which 

consent is given.  No sale or transfer of the Agreement, as allowed hereunder, shall be effective unless and until 

the vendee or assignee has filed in the office of the City Clerk an instrument, duly executed, reciting the 

fact of such sale or assignment, accepting the terms of this Agreement and agreeing to perform all the 

conditions thereof, and the City has approved said transfer, which approval shall not be unreasonably 

withheld.  The City shall take action on such request for approval of transfer within sixty (60) days of filing 

of all information required by this section.  This section shall not apply in connection with execution of 

secured financing agreements made by the Franchisee. 

A copy of the completed sales or transfer agreement, or a functionally equivalent instrument 

between the Franchisee and proposed Franchisee, shall be provided on a confidential basis to the City 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 6

Attorney for review, so that the City may discover the assumption of obligations by the Franchisee 

and proposed Franchisee with respect to the fiber-based communications system. 

After receipt of the petition for proposed transfer or assignment, the City Council may, as it 

deems necessary or appropriate, schedule a public hearing on the petition.  Further, the City Council may 

review Franchisee's performance under the terms and conditions of this franchise.  The Franchisee 

shall provide all requested assistance to the City Council in connection with any such inquiry and, as 

appropriate, shall secure the cooperation and assistance of all persons involved in said action. 

Should the Franchisee sell, assign, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of any of its rights 

or interests under this franchise or attempt to do so in violation of this requirement to obtain prior consent, 

the City may revoke this franchise for default and the purported sale, transfer, assignment or conveyance shall 

be null and void.  For purposes of clarity, Franchisee may assign, transfer or convey any of its 

rights or interest under this franchise without consent or approval of the City to any affiliated 

company, or if the assignment, transfer or conveyance is carried out as part of a merger, 

restructuring, or sale or transfer of all or substantially all of Franchisee’s assets. 

(b) Franchisee will not lease any part of its fiber optics system pursuant to this franchise to any other 

unrelated company for providing cable television services to subscribers or customers within the City 

unless the lessee holds a valid cable television franchise with the City.   

(c) In the event of a change in majority control of Franchisee, the system or the franchise 

granted herein that occurs after the effective date of the franchise, by act of Franchisee, by act of any person 

holding control of the Franchisee, the network or the franchise granted herein, by operation of law, or 

otherwise, Franchisee shall provide reasonable notice to the City.  The requirements of this section shall 

also apply whenever any change in partial ownership is proposed which would result in a change of majority 

ownership or control of Franchisee, the system, the franchise granted herein or of any person holding control 

of Franchisee or in the system or in the franchise, and any other event which could result in a change in majority 

ownership or control of Franchisee, regardless of the manner in which such ownership or control is 

evidenced (e.g., stock, bonds, debt instruments or other indicia of ownership or control). 

SECTION 9.  LOCATION AND CONSTRUCTION OF FACILITIES. 

(a)  Except as provided in Section 11, facilities maintained or installed by Franchisee within the 

City shall be so located and constructed as not to: 

(1) Interfere with usual travel (automotive and/or pedestrian) within the public 

rights-of-way; 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 7

(2) Interfere with the rights or reasonable convenience of property owners who 

adjoin  such public rights-of-way; 

(3) Interfere with access to or use of any water or fire hydrant; 

(4) Obscure the vision of or interfere with the installation of any traffic control device 

or traffic or information sign or signal; 

(5) Interfere with sight distance established by any ordinance or law; 

(6) Obscure the light from any street light; 

(7) Cross any water or sewer line except at a ninety degree (90°) angle, except in 

accordance with a specific permit for such crossing issued by the City; 

(8) Damage irrigation, landscaping or trees owned or maintained by the City; 

(9) Damage any communications lines owned or maintained by the City. 

(b) Placement of facilities in the paved sidewalk area is prohibited unless authorized by 

the City. 

(c) The City shall have authority to require Franchisee to remove or relocate any facility located 

in violation of this section at Franchisee's sole expense.  Such relocation or removal shall be completed with 

thirty (30) days of written notice from the City.  In the event that thirty (30) days is not sufficient, Franchisee may 

in writing request an additional thirty (30) days to accomplish the relocation. The notice shall prescribe the area 

where the facility is located and any other special conditions deemed necessary by the City. 

(d) Map of Network.  Upon request, the Franchisee shall provide to the City's GIS 

representative per instructions from the City its fiber optics location data in conformance with data definition 

standards defined by the City GIS staff.  The fiber optics location data layer shall be incorporated into 

the GIS data dictionary and any appropriate Franchisee documentation.  The City shall provide GIS data to 

serve as the base for the fiber optics location data.  The City shall provide to the Franchisee existing data 

in a format agreed to by the City.  Specific data layers that make up the base shall be defined in 

discussions with the Franchisee.  At a minimum, the fiber optics location data layer shall represent the conduit 

duct banks, as well as overall size, material and configuration of the duct bank or any other underground burial and 

location of all aerial wiring.  The fiber optics location data shall be returned to the City on the same type 

medium and format as previously identified. 

After construction of new network facilities or extensions of existing network facilities, as a 

separate requirement, the Franchisee shall develop as built drawings and maps in a format as requested by the City 

and be provided to the City in that format. 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 8

SECTION 10.  WORK IN PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY: RESTORATION OF 

DAMAGED AREAS. 

(a) Whenever Franchisee excavates or does other work in the public right-of-way, such 

excavation or other work shall be done in compliance with the laws and regulations of the City in effect at the time 

of such excavation or other work. 

(b) Prior to the erection or installation by Franchisee of any poles, underground conduits, or 

fixtures for use in connection with the installation, construction, maintenance or operation of a fiber 

optics system, Franchisee shall obtain any required permits in accordance with City code. 

(c) Franchisee shall not excavate or do other work in any public right-of-way unless 

Franchisee has applied for and received a written permit entitled "Street Cut Permit" from the City, or its 

designee, granting permission for such excavation or other work.  The permit shall describe the area where 

the excavation and/or work is expected to be completed, the method of construction, the contractor performing 

the work and any other conditions.  If directional boring, trenching or other excavation is the method of 

construction, detailed plans shall be submitted describing how the work will be performed so as not to damage other 

lines and conduit located in the right-of-way; provided that, to the extent possible Franchisee shall use trenchless 

technology for any portion of construction or maintenance of its facilities that lie beneath the paved or improved 

portion of any public right-of-way, unless otherwise approved by the City.  If the installation utilizes facilities of 

another entity, Franchisee shall provide written authorization for use of such facilities prior to a permit being 

issued.  If the excavation or other work requires closure of a street lane or sidewalk, Franchisee shall, five (5) 

working days prior to said closure, submit a Traffic Control Plan to the City for approval.  In emergencies 

involving service outages, Franchisee shall proceed with all necessary operations without first obtaining the 

permit, but shall obtain the required permit at its earliest opportunity. 

(d) Franchisee shall not open, disturb or encumber, at any one time, any more public rights-

of-way than may, in the opinion of the City, be necessary to enable Franchisee to economically install or 

repair its facilities; nor shall Franchisee permit any public right-of-way to remain open, disturbed or 

encumbered for a longer period of time than shall, in the opinion of the City, be necessary. 

(e) Immediately upon completion of repairs or installation of any facility, Franchisee shall 

refill and compact any trench or excavation to the standards required by the City and the State of Alabama 

Department of Transportation's "Standard Specifications of Roads and Structures."  Promptly, and in no less 

than ten (10) business days after the completion of repair or installation, unless otherwise approved by the City, 

Franchisee shall restore or replace any pavement, sidewalk, curb, gutter, grass, landscaping material or other 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 9

materials or structure damaged in the course of its work to City standards at Franchisee's sole expense.  In the 

event excavation or disturbance of special sidewalk pavement areas is necessary, Franchisee shall restore those 

areas to their preexisting conditions which restoration shall meet City standards.  Failures within an area 

which has been disturbed, excavated or encumbered by Franchisee which are discovered within twelve 

(12) months of the restoration or replacement specified herein, shall be the responsibility of Franchisee pursuant 

to this provision. 

(f) If Franchisee fails, neglects or refuses to refill any trench or excavation or to restore 

or replace any pavement, sidewalk, curb, gutter, grass, landscaping material, or other material or 

structure or to repair failed materials as specified herein, the City may do all or any part of the work that 

remains undone at the cost or expense of Franchisee.  Failure of Franchisee to reimburse the City within 

thirty (30) days of the City’s presentation of a bill for the costs shall result in denial of any permit request made 

by Franchisee until payment is made.  City may, at its option, recover such amount from the 

performance bond, certificate of deposit, letter of credit or insurance required herein. 

(g) In any case where a public right-of-way is being excavated, disturbed or encumbered 

by Franchisee, Franchisee shall take all precautions required by law, in particular, the Manual on Uniform Traffic 

Control Devices, or otherwise necessary or proper for the protection of the public and shall maintain 

adequate warning signs, barricades, signals, and other devices necessary or proper to give notice and warning to 

the public of the existence of actual conditions present.  Nothing in this paragraph shall alter or waive 

any rights enjoyed by Franchisee or any other party under Alabama’s underground damage 

prevention law (Ala. Code Title 37, Section 37-15-1, -11). 

(h) Any construction project authorized by a specific permit shall be completed within one 

year from the date that any necessary permits are issued, provided that the City may allow reasonable 

extension due to weather or Acts of God, or other reasonable circumstances that in the sole discretion 

of the City justifies an extension of the project target completion date. 

SECTION 11.  USE OF STREETS. 

(a) Franchisee understands that City prefers that underground installations shall be a 

last resort and require the consent of the City, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, 

delayed or denied, provided that installations may be underground in those areas of the City where 

public utilities providing telephone and electric service are underground at the time of installation.  In 

areas where either telephone or electric utility facilities are above ground at the time of installation, 

Franchisee may install its service above ground, provided that, at such time as those facilities are 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 10

required to be placed underground by the City, Franchisee shall likewise place its services underground 

without additional cost to the City.  Where not otherwise required to be placed underground by this 

franchise agreement, Franchisee's system shall be located underground at the request of the adjacent property 

owner, provided that the excess cost over the aerial location shall be borne by the property owner 

making the request.  All new cable passing under the roadway shall be installed in conduit no less 

than eighteen (18) inches from the top of the conduit to the surface of the ground, private property 

and utilities.  Franchisee's system and facilities, including poles, lines, equipment and all 

appurtenances, shall be located, erected and maintained so that such facilities shall: 

(1) Not endanger or interfere with the health, safety or lives of persons; 

(2) Not interfere with any improvements the City, County or State may deem 

proper to make; 

(3) Not interfere with the free and proper use of public streets, alleys, bridges, 

easements or other public ways, places or property, except to the minimum extent 

possible during actual construction or repair; 

(4) Not interfere with the rights and reasonable convenience of private property 

owners, except to the minimum extent possible during actual construction or 

repair; or 

(5) Not obstruct, hinder or interfere with any gas, electric, traffic control, water or 

telephone facilities or other utilities located within the City. 

(b) Work within right-of-way.  The closing of any part of a publicly maintained street or 

right-of-way must be approved by the Department of Planning, Engineering and Permits, and may be 

prohibited during peak travel hours, 7-9 A.M. and 4-6 P.M., Monday through Friday.  During repairs or 

improvements, traffic on streets must be maintained.  Where full closing of the street is required, the 

request for approval must be by the Planning, Engineering and Permits Department and Traffic Engineering is to 

be notified as soon as possible.  All closings are to be protected with signage in accordance with 

the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD). 

(c) Removal of City Property.  No City property is to be removed from the right-of-way, 

including signage on utility poles, without proper permission from the City Department of Planning, Engineering 

and Permits and Department of Traffic Engineering. 

SECTION 12.  ACQUISITION OF RIGHT-OF-WAY.  In acquiring or widening public rights-

of-way, the City shall determine the minimum right-of-way necessary to accommodate paved streets, 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 11

pedestrian walkways, landscaping, traffic signals, drainage, water and sewer lines and other governmental 

facilities. 

SECTION 13.  RELOCATION OF FACILITIES. 

(a) Wherever a public right-of-way or other public property is being constructed, paved 

(whether or not such paving is part of a more extensive improvement project), resurfaced, relocated or 

otherwise altered or improved (including, but not limited to, the installation of sidewalk, curb, gutter, drainage 

facilities, water mains, or sewer mains, traffic signals or trees), Franchisee shall, within ninety (90) days of written 

notice from the City and at no cost (direct or indirect) to the City, remove or relocate any of Franchisee's facility 

located within such public right-of-way or public property or perform such work as it deems necessary for the 

extension of new facilities.  Nothing in this franchise is intended to eliminate or waive any right 

Franchisee may have to reimbursement under applicable law or the terms of any public funding 

grant for a project. 

If Franchisee believes it will be unable to complete the relocation within ninety (90) days from 

receipt of notice from the City, Franchisee shall explain the reasons for its inability in detail and City and 

Franchisee shall attempt to agree on an alternate schedule, subject, however, it is the City's right to 

finally determine the schedule, as long as its decision is not unreasonable. 

SECTION 14.  TREES.  Trimming of the trees and shrubbery within the public right-of-way 

to prevent contact with Franchisee's facilities shall be done only in accordance with standards approved by the 

Director of Public Works.  Removal or severe pruning of any tree or shrub, work on the surface within 

five (5) feet of any tree or shrub, and underground excavation within the drip line of a tree or shrub, which 

will require cutting of ten percent (10%) or more of the circumference of the root system, may be 

undertaken only in accordance with a specified permit obtained from the Director of Public Works 

and in compliance with the special conditions of such permit and other standards established by this 

franchise or other law.  Where trees or shrubs in the public right-of-way are damaged as a result of work 

undertaken by or on behalf of Franchisee, Franchisee shall pay the City, within thirty (30) days of 

submission of a statement by the City, the cost of any treatment required to preserve the tree or shrub and/or 

cost for removal and replacement of the tree or shrub with landscaping of equal value and/or the value of 

the tree or shrub prior to the damage or removal as determined by the Director of Public Works or 

other authorized agent of the City Engineer. 

The City may collect such damages through draw-down of the security required in Section 6, 

through the insurance required in Section 7 or through other means allowed by law. 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 12

SECTION 15.  CONSTRUCTION STAFFING.  During the franchise term, Franchisee shall 

have sufficient full-time supervisors on staff solely to supervise construction plans and the construction 

practices of subcontractors.  The Franchisee shall provide the means for immediate notification and 

communication by the City with the supervisor in the field by means of a pager, cellular phone or other 

similar means of communication during all phases of construction.  All construction work or any other work 

performed by Franchisee, its employees, agents, its duly licensed contractors and sub-contractors shall be in 

compliance with the plans and specifications approved by the City, and shall be subject to all applicable 

ordinances, rules and regulations, including licensing and permitting, as well as any licensing and permitting 

fees charged to all persons and businesses for construction and street opening. 

SECTION 16.  FRANCHISE NOT A JOINT VENTURE.  Nothing herein shall be deemed 

to create a joint venture or principal-agent relationship between the parties, and neither party is authorized 

to, nor shall either party act toward third persons or the public in the manner which would indicate any such 

relationship with the other. 

SECTION 17.  FRANCHISEE FEE; CONDITIONS. 

(a) As consideration for this franchise, the Franchisee shall pay to the City an amount equal 

to five percent (5%) of the gross revenue, as defined herein, collected by the Franchisee. 

(b) In consideration of the agreement of the Franchisee to make such franchise payments, 

the City agrees that no additional business license fee shall be imposed upon or required of the Franchisee 

by the City during the term of this franchise.  This provision shall not exempt the property of the Franchisee 

from lawful ad valorem taxes and local improvement district assessments.  This provision shall also not 

exempt the Franchisee from conditions, exactions, fees and charges, which are generally applicable 

during Franchisee's real property development or use as required by the City's ordinances. 

(c) Commencing the month following the month this franchise becomes effective, the 

franchise fee shall be paid quarterly on the 20th day of April, July, October and January; such fee shall be for 

revenues received by the Franchisee for the preceding quarter.  The Franchisee shall furnish to the 

City with each payment of compensation required by this section a written statement, showing the 

amount of gross revenue of the Franchisee within the City for the period covered by the payment.  Such 

statement will be accorded confidential treatment to the extent permitted by law.  Upon receipt of such 

payment the City shall issue a receipt to the Franchisee.  Nothing herein shall preclude the 

Franchisee and the City from agreeing to a revised payment schedule. 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 13

(d) On or before the first (1st) day of February of each succeeding year, the Franchisee 

shall submit to the City, a statement of the franchise fee actually due to the City based upon the actual 

gross revenue for the previous calendar year, together with a check for any amount due from the Franchisee 

or a statement for any amount due from the City.  Such statement will be accorded confidential treatment to 

the extent permitted by law. 

(e) Acceptance by the City of any payment due under this section shall not be deemed 

to be a waiver by the City of any breach of this franchise occurring prior thereto, nor shall the acceptance 

by the City of any such payments preclude the City from later establishing that a larger amount was actually 

due, or from collecting any balance due to the City. 

(f) As used in this section, gross revenue shall mean all revenues (exclusive of sales tax) 

collected by Franchisee from the provision of telecommunications services pursuant to this franchise 

within the corporate limits of the City, including, but not limited to: 

(1) All revenues from installation service charges, 

(2) All revenues from connection or disconnection fees, 

(3) All revenues from penalties or charges to customers for checks returned from 

banks, net of bank costs paid, and penalties, interest or charges for late payment, 

(4) All revenues from equipment sold or rented to customer upon customer premises, 

(5) All revenues from authorized rental of conduit space located within the corporate 

limits of the City, 

(6) All recoveries of bad debts previously written off and revenues from the sale 

or assignment of bad debts.  Unrecovered bad debts charged off after diligent, 

unsuccessful efforts to collect are excludable from gross revenue, and 

(7) The value of any free services provided by Franchisee except (1) those free 

services required under this agreement; (2) services provided as a credit 

against non-recurring charges imposed on Franchisee's customers by a local 

exchange carrier for converting circuits to Franchisee. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, gross receipts does not include: (i) Any tax of general applicability 

imposed upon the Franchisee; (ii) any regulatory fees or surcharges collected from customers as well as amounts 

reflecting cost-recovery of regulatory fees and surcharges (iii) those revenues that the Franchisee receives from 

another telecommunications service provider and upon which the other telecommunications service provider has 

paid or will pay a franchise fee; (iv) pass through revenues which are in turn paid to a local exchange carrier for 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 14

interconnection for long distance service; and (v) revenues that the Franchisee receives from its corporate parent, 

or any subsidiary or affiliate. 

Payment of money under this section shall in no way limit or inhibit any of the privileges or rights 

of the City of Vestavia Hills, whether under this franchise or otherwise.  Nothing in this Section 17 is intended 

to alter, amend modify or expand the taxes and fees that may lawfully be assessed on Franchisee’s business 

activities under this franchise under applicable law. Except as provided elsewhere in this franchise, all 

payments made by franchisee to the City pursuant to this franchise shall be made to the Director of 

Finance.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent Franchisee from passing through some 

or all of the franchise fee to its customers.   

Any transactions which have the effect of circumventing payment of required franchise fees 

and/or evasion of payment of franchise fees by non-collection or non-reporting of gross receipts, bartering, 

or any other means which evade the actual collection of revenues for business pursued by Franchisee are 

prohibited and may constitute a default of this agreement. 

If as a result of such audit or any other review, the City determines that the Franchisee has underpaid 

its fees by ten percent (10%) or more for any twelve (12) month period, then in addition to making full payment 

of the relevant obligation, the Franchisee shall reimburse the City for all of the reasonable costs associated 

with the audit or review, including all reasonable out-of-pocket costs for attorneys, accountants, and other 

consultants. 

The City may collect the costs associated with such audit or review either through the draw-down of 

the security required in Section 6, or through other means as allowed by law. 

If as a result of such audit or other review, the City determines that the Franchisee has underpaid 

its fees for any twelve (12) month period, the Franchisee shall pay interest on such underpayment at the rate 

of ten percent (10%) interest or prime plus two percent (2%), whichever is greater.  The underpayment 

and interest thereon may be collected by the City through the drawdown of the security required in Section 

6, or through other means as allowed by law. 

SECTION 18.  ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECORDS AND REPORTS AND 

INVESTIGATIONS. 

(a) Franchisee shall keep the City fully informed as to all matters in connection with or 

affecting the construction, reconstruction, removal, maintenance, operation and repair of 

Franchisee's network, Franchisee's accounting methods and procedures in connection therewith, 

and the recording and reporting by Franchisee of all revenues and uncollectibles. 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 15

(b) Franchisee shall keep complete and accurate books of account and records of its business 

and operations pursuant to this franchise agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles, subject to approval by the City. 

(c)  Franchisee shall provide the City with access at reasonable times and for reasonable purposes, to 

examine, audit, review, and/or obtain copies of the papers, books, accounts, documents, maps, plans and other records of 

Franchisee pertaining to this franchise.  Franchisee shall fully cooperate in making available its records and otherwise 

assisting in these activities. 

(d) The City may, at any time, make inquiries pertaining to Franchisee's operation of its 

network within the City of Vestavia Hills.  Franchisee shall respond to such inquiries on a timely 

basis. 

SECTION 19.  NATURE OF FRANCHISE FEE PAYMENTS. 

(a) Nothing in this Section is intended to alter, amend, modify or expand the taxes 

and/or fees that may lawfully be assessed on Franchisee’s business activities under this franchise 

pursuant to applicable law. 

(b) The payment of a franchise fee by the Franchisee in no way limits the right of the City to charge 

fees for any permits the Franchisee is required to obtain for any construction project. 

SECTION 20.  FORFEITURE AND TERMINATION. 

(a) In addition to all other rights and powers of the City, the City reserves the right to forfeit 

and terminate this franchise and all rights and privileges of the Franchisee in the event of a material or 

substantial breach of its terms and conditions including, but not limited to, the following: 

(1) The appointment of a receiver or trustee in bankruptcy to take over and 

conduct the business of the Franchisee; 

(2) A failure to begin construction of the fiber optics system within twelve (12) 

months of the effective date of this franchise; 

(3) A failure to provide insurance, bonds, certificates of deposit or letters of credit 

as required herein; 

(4) A failure to pay the required franchise fee or provide to the City as required 

herein; 

(5) Permitting the use of its fiber optics system or facilities in any manner that 

would avoid or seek to avoid the need for a franchise with the City for the business of 

another person; or 

(6) A failure to operate the fiber optics system for a period of six (6) months. 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 16

(b) The Franchisee shall not be excused by mere economic hardship, nor by nonfeasance or 

malfeasance of its directors, officers, agents, subcontractors or employees. 

(c) The City shall notify the Franchisee in writing of any breach specifying the nature of 

the breach.  The Franchisee shall have thirty (30) days after the date of such notice to come back into 

compliance unless such period is extended by the City Attorney.  Should the Franchisee fail or refuse 

to comply with the notice given by the City, the City may consider the franchise in default and pursue 

remedies as it determines.  If the remedy elected by the City is to forfeit and terminate this franchise, the 

Franchisee may request an appeal of such decision to the Council of the City of Vestavia Hills which 

appeal must be filed in writing with the City Clerk no later than ten (10) days after the date of written notice 

of forfeiture and termination to the Franchisee.  The Council shall set a public hearing on such appeal 

within thirty days after notice of appeal is received. 

SECTION 21.  REMEDIES AND PENALTIES NOT EXCLUSIVE.  All remedies and 

penalties under this franchise are cumulative and not exclusive, and the recovery or enforcement by one 

available remedy or imposition of any penalty is not a bar to recovery or enforcement by any other such remedy 

or imposition of any other penalty.  The City reserves the right to enforce the penalty provisions of 

any ordinance or resolution and to avail itself of any and all remedies available at law or in equity.  

Failure to enforce shall not be construed as a waiver of a breach of any term, condition or obligation 

imposed upon the Franchisee by or pursuant to this franchise.  A specific waiver of a particular breach 

of any term, condition or obligation imposed upon the Franchisee by or pursuant to this franchise shall not 

be a waiver of any other or subsequent or future breach of the same or any other term, condition or 

obligation, or a waiver of the term, condition or obligation itself. 

For any period of performance or cure under this Agreement, the time period within which 

Franchisee is to perform or cure, as the case may be, shall be extended, without liability to 

Franchisee, for at least as long as Franchisee’s ability to perform or cure is delayed for reasons 

beyond Franchisee’s control provided that Franchisee shall employ all commercially reasonable 

efforts to eliminate or mitigate the impact of said reasons and to thereafter reasonably accelerate, 

where feasible, its performance or cure.  

Prior to taking any adverse action against Franchisee or this franchise, City shall provide 

Franchisee with such notice and due process, including a reasonable period of time to cure, as is 

required by applicable law, but in all cases no less than reasonable notice and opportunity to cure.   



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 17

SECTION 22.  CONTINUING OBLIGATION.  In the event the Franchisee continues to 

operate all or any part of the network after the terms of this franchise agreement expire or are terminated, 

and before any renewal of the franchise by the City, then the Franchisee shall continue to comply with all 

applicable provisions of this franchise, including, without limitation, all compensation and other payment 

provisions of this franchise, throughout the period of such continued operation, provided that any such 

continued operation shall in no way be construed as a renewal or other extension of this franchise. 

SECTION 23.  LIMITATION ON PRIVILEGES.  All rights, authority and grants herein 

contained or conferred are also conditioned upon the understanding and agreement that these privileges 

in the rights-of-way and other public ways of the City are not to operate in any way so as to be an enhancement 

of the franchise's properties or values or to be an asset or item of ownership in any appraisal thereof. 

SECTION 24.  CONFIDENTIALITY. 

To the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, the City shall protect from disclosure 

any confidential, proprietary information, including maps, submitted to or made available by the 

Franchisee to the City under this Agreement, provided that the Franchisee notifies the City of, and 

clearly labels, the information which the Franchisee deems to be confidential, proprietary 

information as such.  Such confidential, proprietary information shall include, but not be limited to 

any customer names and lists, financial information, technical information or maps regarding 

placement of equipment with the exception of any map(s) attached to the Agreement, or other 

information clearly identified as “Confidential” pertaining to services provided to its customers.  

Confidential, proprietary information disclosed by Franchisee to the City shall be regarded as 

confidential, proprietary as to third parties.  If the City receives a request to disclose such 

information, the City shall notify Franchisee of such request and allow Franchisee a reasonable 

opportunity to defend its information from disclosure. 

SECTION 25.  CAPTIONS.  The captions given to various provisions of this franchise are for 

purposes of convenience only and are to have no impact upon the interpretation of any such provisions. 

SECTION 26.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This franchise, with its exhibits, comprises the entire 

agreement between the City and the Franchisee for purposes of this franchise and supersedes any prior 

agreements or understandings between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. 

SECTION 31.  COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND ORDINANCES.  

Franchisee shall, at all times during the term of its franchise, be subject to the present ordinances, 

resolutions, rules, regulations, and laws of the City of Vestavia Hills and of the State of Alabama, and to 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 18

the provisions of any further ordinance, resolution, rule, regulation, or law of the City or of the State of 

Alabama, so far as they may be applicable. 

SECTION 32.   ALABAMA LAW GOVERNS.  In any controversy or dispute under this 

franchise, the laws and jurisdiction of the State of Alabama shall apply to the extent such law has not been 

superseded or preempted. 

SECTION 33.   NOTICE.  Any notice required or permitted under this franchise shall be 

deemed given if sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, and addressed 

as follows: 

To the City:   
 

  City of Vestavia Hills 
  Attn.  City Manager 
  1032 Montgomery Highway 
  Vestavia Hills, AL  35216 

 
To the Franchisee:   
 

MCImetro Access Transmission Services Corp. 
Attn: Franchise Manager 
600 Hidden Ridge 
Irving, TX 75038 

 
With copies to (except for invoices):  
 

Verizon  
1320 N. Courthouse Road, Suite 900  
Arlington, VA 22201 
Attn: Vice President and Deputy General Counsel 

 
or such other address as may be designated in the future in writing by either party. 

SECTION 34.  EFFECTIVE DATE AND PUBLICATION.  After the execution hereof, this 

franchise shall be published once in a daily newspaper published in the City of Vestavia Hills at 

Franchisee's expense, and shall not take effect until such publication or thirty (30) days after the Ordinance 

authorizing this franchise, whichever is later. 

SECTION 35.  MODIFICATION.  This franchise, including all documents specifically 

incorporated herein, cannot be changed orally but only by an agreement in writing properly executed by the 

parties. 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 19

SECTION 36.  SEVERABILITY.  Should any part, term or provision of this franchise be held 

invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such part, term, or provision shall be 

deemed a separate, distinct and independent provision and such holding shall not invalidate or render 

unenforceable any other provision of this franchise. 

SECTION 37.  RIGHT TO NOTICE AND CURE.  Other provisions herein to the contrary 

notwithstanding, prior to exercising its right to terminate or revoke this Agreement as provided 

herein, the City shall first give written notice to Franchisee setting out the circumstance or basis on 

which the City has the right to terminate or revoke this Agreement, and the Franchisee shall have 

a period of thirty (30) days after the receipt of the notice within which to cure, correct, or resolve 

the circumstance or basis, and if the Franchisee is successful in the cure, correction, or resolution 

thereof, then the City shall not exercise its right to terminate or revoke this Agreement.  If the 

Franchisee has commenced the cure, correction or resolution within thirty (30) days after its receipt 

of notice, but additional time is necessary to the completion thereof, then Franchisee shall have an 

additional thirty (30) days or such addition time upon which the parties can agree, not to be 

unreasonably withheld by either party, to accomplish the cure, correction, or resolution.  

ADOPTED and APPROVED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

on this the 24th day of September, 2018. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
  



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 20

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this franchise as of the _____ day of 

__________________________, 20____. 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, a municipal 

corporation 

 
By:       
Its: Mayor 

 
 
By:       
Its: City Manager 

ATTEST 
 
 
       
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 

       
(Franchisee) 
 
By:       
Its:       

        
 
           
Witness  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2796 
Page 1 

 

 21

EXHIBIT 1 
 
 

(Build-Out Plan) 



UV38

UV5

UV119
UV149

£ ¤1
1

£ ¤7
8

£ ¤3
1

£ ¤28
0

§̈ ¦20

§̈ ¦65

§̈ ¦45
9

Ke
nt

uc
ky

Av
e

Ve
sta

vie
w Ln

Ty
le

r R
d

C
ah

ab
a 

H
ei

gh
ts

 R
d

Vescl
ub

Cir

W
at

kin
s

Gl
en

 D
r

I- 
65

Vestri
dge

Dr

Anglewood Dr

La
ke

Ru
n 

Dr

Urban

Center

Pkwy

Twin
Branch Dr

Ashland Ln

Founders Dr

Rey
no

lds
 Ln

Co Rd 62

Ve
st

av
ia

 D
r

Paxto
n Pl

Dolly

Ridge Dr

Pine

Crest Dr

Lake

Colony

Way

Ea
st

 S
t

King
s

Mou
nta

in

Ridg
e

Columbiana
Rd

La
ke

sid
e

Dr

Massey R
d

River View Dr

Dolly Ridge Rd

Old

Cre
ek Tr

l Post Oak Rd

Ch
es

tn
ut

 R
d

Al
ta

lo
m

a 
Dr

Garland

Dr

Paden Dr

La
ke

 C
olo

ny
 Ln

Woodridge Pl

Bou
lde

r

La
ke

 C
ir

Branchwater Ln

Ve
st

av
ia

 P
kw

y

Mountain

Woods Dr

State Rte 3

Montgomery Hwy

Vesclub Dr

Jacobs R
d

Badham Dr

G
re

en
Va

lle
y 

R
d

Lime Rock Rd

So
ut

hw
oo

d 
R

d

Crosshaven Dr
White Oak Dr

Panorama Dr

US Hwy 31

Lake Pkwy

Co R
d 9

7

Sh
ad

es

Cr
es

t R
d

I- 459

Old 
Ove

rto
n C

lub
 D

r

Li
be

rty
 P

kw
y

μ
C

on
fid

en
tia

lit
y 

St
at

em
en

t: 
 C

on
fid

en
tia

l a
nd

 p
ro

pr
ie

ta
ry

 m
at

er
ia

ls
 

fo
r a

ut
ho

riz
ed

 V
er

iz
on

 p
er

so
nn

el
 a

nd
 o

ut
si

de
 a

ge
nc

ie
s 

on
ly

.
U

se
, d

is
cl

os
ur

e 
or

 d
is

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
of

 th
is

 m
at

er
ia

l i
s 

no
t 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 to
 a

ny
 a

ut
ho

riz
ed

 p
er

so
ns

 o
r t

hi
rd

 p
ar

tie
s 

ex
ce

pt
 b

y 
w

rit
te

n 
ag

re
em

en
t.

Le
ge

nd

Pr
op

os
ed

 L
in

es
 - 

10
4,

07
3 

Li
ne

ar
 F

t

Ve
st

av
ia

 H
ill

s
N

TS

M
C

Im
et

ro
 A

cc
es

s 
Tr

an
sm

is
si

on
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

C
or

p.
 d

/b
/a

 V
er

iz
on

 A
cc

es
s 

Tr
an

sm
is

si
on

 S
er

vi
ce

s
Li

ce
ns

e 
A

re
a 

Pr
op

os
ed

 F
ib

er
 R

ou
te

s
C

ity
 o

f V
es

ta
vi

a,
 A

L

Pg
.1

 o
f 1

Ex
hi

bi
t 1

Fi
na

l d
es

ig
n 

no
t y

et
 c

om
pl

et
ed

, t
hu

s 
ro

ut
es

 s
ub

je
ct

 to
 c

ha
ng

e.
C

ab
le

s 
sh

ow
n 

in
 R

ed
 re

pr
es

en
t b

ac
kb

on
e 

fib
er

 to
 e

xi
st

in
g 

or
ne

w
 c

el
l s

ite
s.

 N
ot

 s
ho

w
n 

ab
ov

e 
ar

e 
ad

di
tio

na
l l

at
er

al
s 

of
f b

ac
kb

on
e

ca
bl

es
 to

 b
e 

de
te

rm
in

ed
 to

 s
er

ve
 b

us
in

es
s 

cu
st

om
er

s 
al

on
g

th
e 

ro
ut

es
.

N
ot

e:
 T

hi
s 

is
 a

 P
R

EL
IM

IN
A

RY
 V

IE
W

 o
nl

y

D
at

a 
So

ur
ce

: V
ZB

 

Pr
oj

ec
tio

n:
 G

C
S_

W
G

S
_1

98
4

M
ap

 C
re

at
ed

: 1
0/

30
/1

7

M
ap

 C
re

at
ed

 B
y:

 R
ob

er
t B

ut
le

r














	2018_0910CC_A
	Proclamation Constitution Week 2018
	Proclamation Assisted Living Week 2018
	Proclamation Family Week 2018
	2018_0808CC_special mtg
	2018_0820CC_work session
	2018_0827CC_M
	Ordinance 2783
	Ordinance 2784
	Ordinance 2786
	Ordinance 2785
	Resolution 5083
	Ordinance 2788
	Resolution 5084
	Resolution 5085
	Resolution 5088
	Resolution 5089
	Resolution 5090
	Resolution 5091
	Ordinance 2789
	Ordinance 2790
	Ordinance 2791
	Ordinance 2792
	Ordinance 2793
	Ordinance 2794
	Ordinance 2795
	Resolution 5092
	Resolution 5093
	Ordinance 2796



